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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

As the chairman of CITIC Limited (“CITIC”) (stock code: 267), |
was recently appointed as the chairman of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in
December 2018. CITIC also increased its stake in the Company
and remained the single largest shareholder of the Company. This
indeed illustrates CITIC’s belief towards the Group, as well as the
fact that the Group’s strategic adjustments and deployment in the
past few years have achieved positive results. | am pleased to have
witnessed that the Group put the focus of its business in the areas
along the path of Belt and Road, especially in areas with relatively
high risks. With security as its core focus, the Group has strived
to expand its logistics and insurance businesses related to large-
scale projects and actively explored more opportunities in providing
integrated services. On behalf of the management team, | would
like to present the Group’s operation in 2018 to the Shareholders as
below.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Security Segment — The Group pushed forward the establishment
of its security services in more countries and regions in 2018. It has
not only obtained legal licenses, but also established cooperation
relationship with relevant local authorities. It has been providing
a comprehensive range of security services, including security
assessments, project formulation, static and dynamic services, as
well as security training for international investors such as Chinese
enterprises. The training base in Beijing, China is in the capacity of
providing a series of advanced security training for both the Group’s
employees as well as for its customers.

At the same time, the Group also made special efforts in improving
its comprehensive strengths. On the foundation of the global
tracking and positioning command system based on GPS system,
it began to plan, study and upgrade systems to improve the overall
on-site monitoring capabilities, positioning and tracking capabilities,
global resource allocation capabilities, as well as emergency
command capabilities, to ensure it has laid solid foundation in the
area of security services.

Logistics Segment — In the Northwest Region, the Group opened
up a safe passage for land transportation between Xinjiang and
Pakistan in 2018 for China Three Gorges Corporation. In the
Southwest Region, the Group began to demonstrate its capacity
in logistics engineering in power transmission and transformation
projects of TBEA Co. Ltd. in Cambodia and China CEC Engineering
Corporation in Bangladesh. In Africa, it opened up and smoothened
the eastbound and southbound passages, ensuring the continuous
high-speed growth of businesses in Africa and becoming the first
choice partner of many Chinese enterprises in major countries.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERE®E

Insurance Segment — As part of the Group’s comprehensive risk
management services, FSG Insurance Services Limited (“FSG
Insurance”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, has been
a member of Hong Kong Confederation of Insurance Brokers in
2018, and since then it has been permitted to provide related
insurance consultancy services to the 20 focus countries across
the four regions. By integrating its security and insurance services,
the Group provides its customers with a series of systematic risk
management solutions.

Focusing on personal safety risks, the greatest concern of these
customers in international investment operations, especially in high-
risks countries and regions, FSG Insurance and Taiping Insurance
jointly designed and developed a personal accident insurance
product called “Taiping Pioneer Insurance”. At the same time, we
are consolidating the networks and the competitive advantages of
the Shareholders and those of the Group, and planning to establish
joint-venture insurance companies in key countries.

In addition, the Group will consolidate and take advantage of the
aviation companies under the Group and provide its customers,
especially overseas investors in Africa, with improved services and
support including medical transportation and emergency rescue
services.

OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT

Over the past year, the Group has recruited a number of
management talents with strong experience in handling overseas
projects located in these 20 countries across the four regions, which
is the primary focus of the Group, and accumulated manpower for
the development and implementation of key projects. Meanwhile,
the internal functions such as finance, accounting, compliance and
internal audit were strengthened and various management systems
were optimised. Professional platforms were established by using
advanced technology and internet, to fully support the business,
and strive to achieve the management team’s internationalization
and localization.

OUTLOOK

In the capital market, the growth potential of the Group has been
widely recognised. In 2018, not only has CITIC increased its stake in
the Company, Taiping also became a shareholder of the Company.
All these have demonstrated the optimistic view of the market on the
future development of the Group.

Within the Group itself, a lot of projects are underway, and team
members are working around the clock, just to seize the valuable
market opportunities so as to generate more revenue.
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A FINAL NOTE:

Before taking this office as the chairman of the Group, | have been
closely watching the development of the Group. Today, in this new
position, | will work together with the Group management team. By
making full use of the advantages of the corporation and the staff,
we will develop the overseas market and provide excellent services
to international investors in high-risk areas with the Group’s unique
operating mode, and create more values and influence for the
shareholders of the Company.

Thank you everyone for your unfailing attention, confidence and
support that you have been giving to the Group.

Chang Zhenming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2019

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

EE

EREREEEERZA - AR —EEENEE
AEBMER - 5 EEEMOLE L - B
EAKENERER R HEBEFELEMET
WEZ - BHRMEINTS  REBREHNEER
ARBRARLENERZEERREENHRE -
RARARNBEREEELZNEEMZEN

B ARK — B E A TARERE - FO0HEX

5 o

iR
TR

—E-AFE=ZA-+_ARES



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWR D

REVIEW OF RESULTS

Overall Performance

o
EERR

2018 2017
—E-N\E T+
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FA&ET
Revenue from contracts with customers RKEFZFEHZWA 866,748 724,414
Cost of direct materials and job expenses EEMBMERARIERS (283,938) (131,705)
Cost of aircraft management services T 12 AR 75 X AR (128,814) (125,448)
Data costs EIEEIDIN (7,028) (6,950)
Employee benefit expenses EE®RFFX (211,722) (178,612)
Sub-contracting charges ABEA (288,488) (295,382)
Operating lease rentals KwERNES (33,438) (22,412)
Repair and maintenance costs S RARB AN (33,580) (35,694)
Depreciation and amortisation e R (37,310) (35,375)
Other income and other gains/(losses), Eal A REAM S (EE)
net peit- 8,871 6,309
Other operating expenses EmEEER (98,144) (88,552)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHBESHEEY
financial assets & — 592
Provision for impairment of other intangibles — H b 2 & & 2 B B 5 (4,087) (9,000)
Provision for impairment of property, plant Y - WM RE K
and equipment and assets held for sale FIEHEEE 2 RERE (8,318) (23,633)
Operating loss EEBE (259,248) (221,448)
Interest income F B A 12,426 9,463
Finance costs A R AR (13,928) (18,213)
Share of losses of associates FEMREE N EISE (1,517) (2,859)
Loss before income tax R BT 45 %0 A & 18 (262,267) (233,057)
Income tax credit FTiSfiiE e 5,644 9,955
Loss for the year FEEE (256,623) (223,102)
Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 5‘& REEEARAR(EADT])ER KB
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) reported a consolidated AsEBAeIAER)ESEE T — N\ F

revenue of HK$866,748,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The revenue growth was mainly due to the Group’s expansion in
logistics business in Shanghai. For 2018, the Group reported an
operating loss of HK$259,248,000, a 17% increase over 2017’s
reported operating loss of HK$221,448,000. The increase over
the same period of 2017 was mainly due to increase in employee
benefit expenses and rental expenses due to the expansion of
footprints along the Belt and Road regions. Reported results for
2018 also included non-recurring income, expenses, impairment
and provisions, such as a gain on the disposal of available-for-
sale financial assets and substantial impairment charges against
goodwill, other intangibles, property, plant and equipment
and assets held for sale, which had a combined net negative
effect on the reporting operating loss by HK$13,382,000 (2017:
HK$43,726,000) on a net basis.

+ A=+—HILFEZHE WA 866,748,000
/%TE J‘l&)\i*EIKEEEAZ’K%@EJ:/iZ%UW
¥BER —T—\F AEBHBEEFE
259,248,000 L BT —tFHRFE 2 EE
[E518221,448,0008 ST HIR17% IR - R=-F
—tFERBZEMDEEAR S —BnR ¥
BIERTREERABAI AR 2N =
T N\FHREZEENDAFLEEERA - B
Y REREBEOMEESATHHESHEE ZI
HEAREE EMEEEE  WHE - #ESER
1%&1%{’5&%%?}*21%&%32&) BFEE

EEHABBrEEHEBERAHFARTE
13,382,000/ 7L(= & — + F : 43,726,000/%
JC) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Financial Key Performance Indicators

MBERERIER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HILEFE
2017

—E—+tF

Basic loss per share SREANEE (13.61) centsl (15.84) centsflll

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+-—8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Total assets BEHE 1,505,983 884,177
Shareholders’ funds RRES 1,064,608 263,674
Net asset value per share BREEFE

(excluding non-controlling interests) (TBRIEFERER) 45 cents 18 cents
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHET 838,509 302,057
Current ratio mENE & 5.39 1.42
Total liabilities-to-total assets ratio BAEBEELE 0.21 0.56
Price to book ratio MHRE 2.76 9.11

The basic loss per share was HK$0.1361 for 2018, relative to
basic loss per share of HK$0.1584 for 2017. As at 31 December
2018, the Group had total assets of HK$1,505,983,000, marking a
70% increase versus the same figure for 2017 due to issue of new
shares and exercise of share options by a director of the Company,
offset by impairment made against intangibles, property, plant and
equipment and assets held for sale. The current ratio and total
liabilities-to-total assets ratio at year end 2018 were 5.39 and 0.21,
respectively. The Group’s total liabilities-to-total assets ratio and the
current ratio were improved principally because of the increase in
cash and bank balances and trade receivables and repayment of
bank and other loans during 2018. While the pronounced decrease
in the Company’s share price over 2018, closing at HK$1.24 at year-
end and the increase in Group’s net assets were the primary factors
for the decrease in the price-to-book ratio.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWR D

Revenue from contracts with customers REEBEFSHZWA
2018 2017
8- N\F —E %
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Aviation and logistics business Mz R W % 849,276 704,587
Financial market information business ERTISEMFES 17,472 19,827
866,748 724,414

Consolidated revenue for 2018 was HK$866,748,000, marking
growth of 20% on an annual basis. The expansion in logistics
business managed in Shanghai was the primary driver of the annual
growth in total revenue. More specifically, logistics business in
Shanghai contributed HK$189,545,000 (2017: HK$24,328,000)
revenue to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. As
a result, and in line with past years, aviation and logistics (“AL")
business accounted for 98% (2017: 97%) of the Group’s 2018
revenue. The Group’s remaining legacy unit, financial market
information (“FMI”) business, produced HK$17,472,000 of revenue
for the full-year 2018, a decline of 12% versus 2017 as a result of
market demand slackened.

Provision for Impairment of Other Intangibles

Other intangibles of HK$4,087,000 associated with the Group’s
operating businesses were impaired in 2018. The decision to
take this impairment against an AL subsidiary, namely Phoenix
Aviation Limited (“PAL”), was reached after a careful internal
review of those business units and discussion among the Group’s
senior management. Impairment made due to the scale down of
its maintenance business and a decline in the franchise’'s core
air ambulance business within a generally more competitive
marketplace in east and central Africa, which has had a secondary
negative effect on pricing. In the future, the Group will continue to
monitor the carrying value other intangibles in accordance with its
accounting practices.

Provision for Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and
Assets Held for Sale

The Group recorded HK$8,318,000 provision for impairment loss
against the aircraft fleet for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is measured
periodically against the resale market value for comparable assets.
The market for aviation assets is cyclical, with substantial changes
in resale pricing common over time. Consequently, the Group
impaired specific aircraft within its fleet to better reflect the likely
value achievable in a resale scenario as at 31 December 2018, and
will closely monitor if an impairment indicator is identified.

RZZT—NF 26 A 5 866,748,000 7T -
BFEEBRN20% - EBEBZYMRER ZER
BEHBKAFTEREEERE - FAEM
T LR EBALEEREE-_S—\Ft+=
AR=+—HLFEZHKAERE 189,545,000%
TT(ZZ—+ 4 :24,328,000/87C) » At - €4
BEFE—H MEkYR(MERYFEDE
BEAEER T NFIRAI% (ZT—+HF
97%) - ARERTHEREFEL SR TS
AR ERMmEEMDEBR - N\F2EF
EEUWA17,472,000870 » B-F—EF K
12% + Ty IS H FEERE -

Htt B EE 2 RERE

HBASEREEBBECEMNEREE
4,087,000 TER -_E— \ERHE. Bz
Ko ¥ 2 7 B A & Phoenix Aviation Limited
((REMZE DELEBRERTE ERERNDD
BUZEEBEMRAEESRERE 2 Eilwm
BEL - AR RIERFIERFBER AU
2G2S RS R D E R RGEE SRR
EREEETY  HTEELAZEIERARY
2 FARELRE - KR AEEBEEREE
EHEBERAMEREEREME -

M BERRBURBELHEEEZRERE

(E-_T-N\EFE+-_A=1+—HIFE K&£H
LR B BT 1B 8 5 8,318,000 8 7T - A%
2RI ENREE BEMEENATEDE
WEREEZREE - MEEEMSEFEL
% BEERRATSEEREERMLUBERE
B) o Ftt - AEE DA EEWEE R 2 BRI E
HRE WEERMAR-ZE—N\F+-_A=+—
HESEEER TAEB 2 Al EE - miksslT
ARETR S BEREREGHBR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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REVIEW OF OPERATING SEGMENTS
Aviation and Logistics Business (“AL Business”)

With continuous growth in the Group’s AL Business in 2018,
HK$849,276,000 of revenue was reported from operating
subsidiaries mainly from Africa, southern Europe and Mainland
China. The organic growth in logistics business in Shanghai was
fundamental catalyst in AL Business revenue growth comparing
2017. The Group will continue to implement cost containment
measures to increase profitability and potential value in the AL
Business.

Transit Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd (“TFF”), a South African based
warehouse and logistics company, generated HK$373,745,000 of
revenue in 2018. This 3% revenue growth reflected the increase in
freight charges to its customers by TFF in 2018 and was in line with
management expectations. With new management team on board,
TFF conducted a new thorough cost analysis and will develop
a specialty logistics division to further increase its operational
efficiency and profitability.

Frontier Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Logistics”),
a PRC based logistics company, generated HK$189,545,000
of revenue in 2018. With further development of the logistics
businesses between PRC and Africa, the revenue of Shanghai
Logistics business is expected to continue to grow in 2019.

Maleth Aero Limited (“Maleth”), a Malta based aircraft management
services company, generated HK$151,834,000 of revenue for 2018.
With expected expansion through managing more profitable and
new aircraft and the provision of freight services, we are optimistic
about the operations and results of Maleth in 2019.

PAL, a Kenyan aviation company based in Nairobi, reported a 19%
decline in revenue compared to 2017. Downward price pressure
and keen competition in the charter and air ambulance services
in Africa deeply impacted the overall results of PAL. Improved
performance is expected from PAL upon the implementation of cost
containment measures and new business development in 2019.

With tremendous efforts paid on developing security and insurance
business along the Belt and Road regions during the past few
years, the Group has a breakthrough in revenue in 2018. We expect
the security and insurance business will have obvious growth and
contribute positive impact to the Group in 2019.

The Group’s AL Business loss increased by 21% to HK$196,737,000
comparing 2017. The increase was mainly due to expansion of
offices, as well as the increase in initial set up expenses, along
the Belt and Road roadmap. With the launch of various cost
containment measures and rollout of various projects, positive
impacts are expected from AL Business in 2019.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Financial Market Information Business (“FMI Business”)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s FMI segment
generated reported revenue of HK$17,472,000. This legacy
business unit provides online financial market data and related
information. FMI segment revenue for 2018 represents a 12%
decline against comparable figure for 2017. The FMI Business,
a non-core business segment of the Group’s overall operations,
produced a small operating loss of HK$1,071,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018 as demand for its services declined
during the year.

Direct Investments

Direct investments is the Group’s segment for available-for-sale
financial assets and other direct investment holdings. For 2018,
there is no profit generated from the direct investments segment.
For 2017, the comparable reported loss from the direct investments
segment of HK$5,875,000 resulting from the closedown of one of
the associates.

PROSPECTS

2018 was a transitional year for the Group. Not only just focusing on
exploring new markets along the Belt and Road regions, the Group
has reallocated its available resources on PAL, TFF and Maleth.
With the opening up of new presences and markets in Myanmar,
Laos, Cambodia, Nigeria, Mozambique, Kenya, Tanzania and other
countries in Asia, Middle East and Africa during 2018, the Group
has built up a solid foundation for growth in businesses in 2019 and
onwards. The Group is still exploring some other new markets and
business segments so as to maximise its shareholders’ wealth.

After the completion of the share subscription of the Company
in May 2018, additional financial resources were brought into
the Group. New investors of different industrial background and
knowledge were brought in. Some existing investors also increased
its influence over the business operations of the Group. During
the second half of 2018, the Group had put additional effort in
exploring opportunities on infrastructure business. It is expected
that the Group will take part in one or two projects of this kind in
2019 in order to diversify itself not just focusing on logistic, security
and insurance business segments. Feasibility studies over these
infrastructure projects are undergoing and the Board will provide
further information to shareholders when a targeted project has
been identified. Projects on major infrastructures, resources, oil and
gas along the Belt and Road continue to be the Group’s primary
focus in this respect.
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In 2019, the Group plans to provide infrastructure project solutions
encompassing planning and management, financing, construction
and logistics, helping our customers to manage the entire project
value chain focusing on transportation corridors, energy and
logistics networks as well as social housing projects in Africa and
South East Asia, echoing China’s Belt and Road initiative. The
Group also intends to take part in these projects through equity
investment. Infrastructure business segment will be established to
support the Group’s capabilities to take advantage of these large
projects and maximize synergies.

Also, the Group has specifically identified certain countries along
the Belt and Road for business development namely Laos, Myanmar,
Cambodia and the Democratic Republic of Congo other than
Kenya, South Africa and Malta. On business segments, security,
logistic and insurance are still the key drivers for growth. The Group
would like to take advantage of those infrastructure projects in
order to stimulate the growth in revenue and profitability of these
three business streams. The Group aim at not just delivering a
single service to its customers but a chain of services with the best
solution to its customers to their satisfaction. Although the global
economy remains highly volatile, the Group remains positive towards
2019 because a strong and solid foundation has been formed. It is
the best timing for the Group to grasp those available opportunities
and serve our targeted customers with our security, logistic and
insurance capabilities. At the same time, the Group will continuously
implement various cost reduction measures so as to enhance the
Group’s overall operational efficiency.

Recently, the global market is facing a lot of challenges. The Group
has the belief that our focus on the Belt and Road Initiative and
our uniqueness in terms of business modeling and shareholding
structure would still be our competitive strength to support the
Group’s long term strategic growth.

EMPLOYEES

The Group has developed its human resources policies and
procedures based on performance and merit. The Group ensures
that the pay level of its employees is competitive and employees
are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group
provides on-the-job training to its employees in addition to
retirement benefit schemes and medical insurance. Employees are
offered discretionary year-end bonus based on individual merit.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and
employees of the Group to recognise their contribution to the
success of the Group. The Company has granted 21,397,030 share
options under its share option scheme during the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: 14,497,030).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Company also operates a share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Company has
not granted any share under its share award scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 1,137,000).

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2018 was 477 (2017: 432).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recorded total assets of
HK$1,505,983,000 (2017: HK$884,177,000) which were financed
by liabilities of HK$314,462,000 (2017: HK$496,236,000), non-
controlling interests of HK$126,913,000 (2017: HK$124,267,000)
and shareholders’ equity of HK$1,064,608,000 (2017:
HK$263,674,000). The Group’s net asset value per share (excluding
non-controlling interests) as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
HK$0.45 (2017: HK$0.18).

The Group recorded cash and bank balances of HK$838,509,000
(2017: HK$302,057,000) and total borrowings of HK$62,276,000
(excluding facility arrangement fees of HK$2,713,000) (2017:
HK$258,347,000 (excluding facility arrangement fees of
HK$4,788,000)) as at 31 December 2018. During the year ended 31
December 2018, bank loans amounting to HK$215,804,000 (2017:
HK$153,705,000) in aggregate were partially repaid by proceeds
received from the subscription below. The Group’s borrowings,
which comprise of bank loans, finance leases and other loan and
are denominated in United States dollars (“US$”), South African
Rand (“ZAR”) and Euro (“EUR”), will mature in 1 to 4 years (2017:
1to 4 years) as at 31 December 2018. Except for the borrowings of
HK$50,773,000 (2017: HK$59,439,000), which are interest bearing
at fixed rates, the remaining balances of HK$11,503,000 (2017:
HK$198,908,000) are interest bearing at floating rates as at 31
December 2018. With respect to the Group’s net borrowings (total
borrowings less cash and bank balances), both 2018 and 2017
reported surplus net cash and bank balances.

On 9 January 2018, Mr. Erik D. Prince (“Mr. Prince”), an Executive
Director of the Company, has exercised 50,000,000 share options at
an exercise price of HK$1.50 per share to subscribe for 50,000,000
new shares. The total net proceeds received from the exercise of
options amounted to HK$75,000,000 and were utilised as additional
working capital of the Group.
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On 23 May 2018, the Company issued 640,000,000 new shares to
three subscribers, namely Easy Flow Investments Limited (“Easy
Flow”), Taiping Trustees Limited and Trinity Gate Limited at an issue
price of HK$1.30 each. Easy Flow, a company that is ultimately
controlled by a state-owned enterprise in the PRC, was a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Net proceeds of HK$830,567,000 was
raised, which was used for the development and expansion of the
Group’s existing business, repayment of existing bank loans and
as general working capital of the Group. As at 31 December 2018,
approximately HK$389,163,000 has been used for the intended
purpose of which HK$16,678,000 has been used for setting up
businesses in Myanmar, Laos and Cambodia, HK$49,207,000
was used for aircraft operations, HK$147,186,000 has been used
for office related expenditures such as staff costs, rentals and
transportation service fees and HK$176,092,000 has been used for
the repayment of existing banks loans. The remaining net proceeds
will be used as intended.

On 2 December 2018, Mr. Prince, an Executive Director of the
Company, has exercised 205,115,657 other options at an exercise
price of HK$0.73 per share to subscribe for 205,115,657 new shares
of the Company. The total net proceeds received from the exercise
of options amounted to HK$149,734,000 and were intended to use
as additional working capital of the Group.

On 13 March 2017, the Company issued 216,000,000 new shares at
an issue price of HK$0.90 each. Net proceeds of HK$192,456,000
was raised for the working capital for the development and
expansion of the Group’s existing AL Business. As at 31 December
2018, all the net proceeds were used for the intended purposes,
which included HK$41,761,000 was used for aircraft operation,
HK$9,242,000 for license fees, HK$130,301,000 for office related
expenditures such as staff costs, rentals and transportation service
fees, and HK$11,152,000 for loan interest payment.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had 64,886,120 outstanding
share options (2017: 351,162,575), out of which all share options
(2017: 146,046,918) were granted under its share option schemes.
If all of the remaining outstanding share options were exercised,
a gross proceed of approximately HK$82 million (2017: HK$358
million) in aggregate would be raised before deducting any
issuance expenses.
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Treasury Policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and has tight
controls over its cash management. The Group’s cash and bank
balances are held mainly in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi
(“RMB”), US$ and EUR. Other than the bank deposits pledged for
the Group’s bank borrowings, surplus cash is generally placed on
term deposits and investments depending on the Group’s funding
requirements.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related
Hedges

The Group currently operates mainly in Africa, Europe and Mainland
China including Hong Kong.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are
denominated in HK$ and US$. The exchange rate of US$ against
HK$ is relatively stable, and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.

For operations in Mainland China, most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese government. No financial
instrument was used for hedging purposes for the period. The
Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of RMB and
is looking for any opportunities to mitigate the currency exchange
risk of RMB.

For operations in Africa, most of the transactions are denominated
in US$, Kenyan Shillings (“KES”) and ZAR. The exchange rates of
KES and ZAR against HK$ have decreased by 2% and increased
by 17% respectively during the year ended 31 December 2018. No
financial instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year
due to the prohibitive cost of available hedging opportunities. The
Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of KES and
ZAR and will consider the use of financial instrument for hedging
purposes, if necessary.

For operations in Europe, most of the transactions are denominated
in EUR and US$. The exchange rate of EUR against HK$ has
decreased by 4% during the year ended 31 December 2018. No
financial instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year.
The Group is closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of
EUR and will consider the use of financial instrument for hedging
purposes, if necessary.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associates during the year ended 31 December
2018.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank deposits amounting
to HK$153,635,000 (2017: HK$231,365,000) and certain trade
receivables of HK$33,921,000 (2017: HK$11,682,000) pledged to
banks as securities for bank borrowings and banking facilities. In
addition, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company also
issued a fixed and floating debenture on all its assets as securities
for a banking facility limit of US$3,000,000.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets and
Capital Expenditure Commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had capital expenditure
commitments for investment in associates and purchase of land-
use-rights amounting to HK$6,749,000 (2017: HK$7,058,000) and
HK$11,440,000 (2017: HK$35,889,000), respectively. Apart from
the aforesaid, the Group did not have any concrete future plans
for material investments or capital assets and material capital
expenditure commitments as at 31 December 2018.

However, the Group always seeks for new investment opportunities
in order to broaden the revenue base, improve the Group’s
profitability and enhance shareholders’ value in long term.

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed under the heading “Charges on Assets”, the
Group does not have material contingent liability as at 31 December
2018.

Subsequent Events

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the
Company or by the Group after 31 December 2018 and up to the
date of the annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ER®E

i

INTRODUCTION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is firmly committed to the overall
standards of corporate governance and has always recognised
the importance of accountability, transparency and protection of
shareholders’ interest in general. The Company has adopted the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own corporate
governance policy, subject to amendments from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code from time to
time.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company
comprises 9 directors, including 1 non-executive director (Mr.
Chang Zhenming (Chairman)), 5 executive directors (Mr. Erik D.
Prince (Deputy Chairman), Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Deputy
Chairman), Mr. Luo Ning (Deputy Chairman), Dr. Hua Dongyi (Chief
Executive Officer) and Mr. Hu Qinggang), and 3 independent non-
executive directors (Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, Professor Lee Hau
Leung and Dr. Harold O. Demuren).

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are exercised by different individuals. One of the
independent non-executive directors is a professional accountant,
which is in compliance with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
There are also 3 board committees under the Board, which are the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management
of the Group are delegated by the Board to management, and
ensuring adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and
training programs and budget of the financial staff.
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the directors for the
time being or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors and the non-
executive director are appointed for a specific term and are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Listing Rules. To determine the non-executive directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
received from each of the independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the independent non-
executive directors meet the requirements for independence as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Messrs. Chang Zhenming
and Luo Ning are currently employees of CITIC Group Corporation,
a substantial shareholder of the Company. There is no material
relationship between each of the Board members.

Every newly appointed director will be given an induction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During the year, the Company had provided to the directors regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Group’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments
in which the Group operates. All directors are also encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All
directors are required to provide the Company with their record of
training they received during the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management. The Board has
also reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the CG Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
financial reporting standards.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman),
Professor Lee Hau Leung and Dr. Harold O. Demuren.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required,
among other things, to oversee the relationship with the independent
auditor, to review the Group’s interim and annual consolidated
financial statements, to monitor compliance with statutory and listing
requirements, to ensure adequacy of resources, qualifications,
experience and training programs and budget of the financial staff,
and to engage independent legal or other advisers if necessary to
perform investigations.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee,
among other matters, reviewed reports from and met with the
independent auditor regarding the audit on annual consolidated
financial statements and discussed the risk management and internal
control of the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed the scope,
extent and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. Further information is disclosed in the section titled
“RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL” below.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 5 directors, namely
Professor Lee Hau Leung (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Ko
Chun Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, and Dr. Harold O.
Demuren.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under its terms of
reference, the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying
potential directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the Company. Potential
new directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills
and experience which the Nomination Committee considers will make
a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board’s diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service of
board members, and review the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board’s diversity policy, and monitor the
progress on achieving the measurable objectives.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 5 directors, namely
Professor Lee Hau Leung (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Ko Chun
Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry and Dr. Harold O. Demuren.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, the responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, assisting the Company
in the administration of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies, making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management, and ensuring that no director or any of his/
her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the work performed by
the Remuneration Committee includes, inter alia, the review of the
Group’s remuneration policy for its executive directors and senior
management and their levels of remuneration.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee currently comprises 5 directors, namely Dr. Hua
Dongyi (Chairman), Mr. Erik D. Prince, Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry,
Professor Lee Hau Leung and Dr. Harold O. Demuren.

Under the terms of reference, the Risk Committee is required, among
other things, to assist and advise the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities with regard to the Group’s risk appetite, risk principles
and other risk-related issues including corporate actions and sanction
risks management, etc., to consider major investigation findings on
risk management matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management response to these findings, to approve
the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances, to oversee and advise
the Board on the current risk exposures of the Group and advise on
the Group’s future risk strategy, to consider emerging risks relating
to the Group’s business and strategies to ensure that appropriate
arrangements are in place to control and mitigate the risks effectively,
to review risk reports and breaches of risk tolerances and policies,
to review and assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk control/
mitigation tools including, but not limited to, the enterprise risk
management programme, the sanctions risks management systems,
and the Group’s contingency plans, and to take charge of the internal
control measures and to ensure that they are in place in order to
minimise the Group’s exposure to sanction risks and ensure that the
Group has not been involved in any incidents of non-compliance of
sanction laws and regulations.

Discussions of risks are further detailed on pages 45 to 48 under
section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties”.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company sets out below the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria contained in the Nomination Policy adopted by
the Board in March 2019.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate.

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from members of the Board if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated
by members of the Board.

o For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an additional
member to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

o For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

o A circular will be sent to the shareholders of the Company
to provide them with the name, brief biography, proposed
remuneration, (where an independent non-executive Director
is to be nominated) independency and other information of the
proposing candidate in accordance with the requirements of
the applicable laws, rules and regulations including those of
the Listing Rules.

o A shareholder can serve a written notice to the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary of his or her intention
to propose a certain person for election as a Director.
This written notice, together with (i) the information of the
candidate as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules and such other information as may be
considered relevant to his or her proposed election; and (ii)
the written consent by that person to the publication of his or
her personal data provided pursuant to (i) immediately above,
by the Company in its corporation communication documents
in compliance with the Listing Rules or as may be required by
the Stock Exchange at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company for a period of no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no
later than 7 days prior to the date of the general meeting.

o The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.
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Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee

Business experience: The candidate should have significant
experience from a senior role in an area of business, public
affairs or academia, relevant to the Company. Awareness of
the Group’s focusing industry would be an advantage but not
a requirement in all cases.

Public board experience: The candidate should have
relevant expertise and experience earned as a Board member
of a reputable listed company or from a senior position in his
or her industry, public affairs or academia.

Diversity: The candidate should contribute to the Board
being a diverse body, with diversity reflecting gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, qualifications, skills and length of service. Given
the current composition of the Board, a female candidate
would be an advantage but not a requirement.

Standing: The candidate should be of the highest ethical
character and have a strong reputation and standing, both
personally and professionally, in his or her fields.

Time commitment: Each Board member must have sufficient
time available for the proper performance of his or her duties.
Directors should be sufficiently free of other commitments to
be able to devote the time needed to prepare for meetings
and participate in induction, training, appraisal and other
Board associated activities.

Independence: For the candidate who is proposed as an
independent non-executive director, he or she must satisfy all
the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. He or she must always be aware of threats to
his or her independency and avoid any conflict of interest with
the Company. He or she must be able to represent and act
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. To ensure that the existing policy continues to be
implemented smoothly in practice, the Company shall undertake
regular reviews and reassess this policy having regard to the
regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and
the expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. The Company will propose amendments to the Board for
approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All board appointments are based on merit and contribution, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Policy on a regular basis and discusses any
revisions that may be required, and recommends any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance records of each director at the various meetings of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out

as below:
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Attended/Eligible to Attend

BHE/RERLE
Annual Special Audit Nomination Remuneration
general general Board committee committee committee
meeting meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings
B= B= Ezg ENERE REZRE FHZEES
BFRE BHAE EE R R EE
Number of meetings S 1 1 6 4 2 2
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Erik D. Prince Erik D. Prince % 11 1 6/6 NATER 2/2 202
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson BRELE 17 17 6/6 NATER 2/2 2/2
Mr. Luo Ning BERAE n 01 5/6 NATER N/ATiEA NATEA
Dr. Hua Dongyi Rt N n 6/6 NATER N/AT A N/ATEA
Mr. Hu Qinggang HERLE o1 01 5/6 NAT @R N/ATEF N/ATER
Non-Executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming (Note) BRALE W) N/AT @A NATEA NATBRA N/ATER N/AT i NATEA
Independent Non-Executive
Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry ERELE n n 5/6 404 22 22
Professor Lee Hau Leung ZURHE 0 n 5/6 404 22 22
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold O. Demuren &+ on 1 3/6 34 2/2 12
Note: st

Appointed as non-executive director on 6 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry by the Company, all
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, all current directors have participated
in continuous professional development as shown below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Erik D. Prince
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Mr. Luo Ning
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Dr. Hua Dongyi
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Mr. Hu Qinggang
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chang Zhenming
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Professor Lee Hau Leung
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance

Dr. Harold O. Demuren
Reading relevant materials in relation to listing rules update and
corporate governance
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong as
its statutory auditor for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
statement by the independent auditor of the Company and the Group
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Company and the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 57 to 63 of this Annual Report.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong to the Group in 2018 is
summarised as follows:

BB &

(E-_E-N\EFE+-_A=1+—HIFE  KAF
ZREESREBKEBESTMERAEEATZE
Bl o ARRIRAEE 2 BUZHAREEHAR
AR AEB Y BHRE B RETERANEFER
F57BE 63 B 2B ZBANRE ©

R-F—N\F GRABEBEBOESF SR
FrAA KBRS 2 S sdn T

HK$'000
FET
Auditing services EIZRTE 3,010
Non-auditing services EEZIRTE
Fee for corporate governance reporting, DEBARE BB el 501
environmental, social and governance reporting ERMENERE B
and review services
3,511

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company does not engage an external service provider as its
Company Secretary. Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, being the Company
Secretary of the Company, has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2018.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting forth proper risk
management culture and risk appetite for the Group, evaluating and
determining the level of risk that the Group should take and monitor
regularly, and demonstrating openness, integrity and accountability to
stakeholders in the decision-making process. The Board, through the
Audit Committee, has also devoted to maintain sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems in order to safeguard
the assets, to achieve business objectives and to ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The Group’s management
continues to allocate resources for the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
The Group established the risk management and internal control
systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatements or losses
caused by judgment in decision making process, human error, fraud
or other irregularities.
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Control Framework

Risk Management Policy has been established to set forth the risk
management framework and to maintain a consistent basis for the
identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment, monitoring and reporting
of risks at all levels across the Group to support the achievement of
the Group’s overall strategic objectives.

The Group has adopted the Enterprise Risk Management framework,
which is published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO”) and involves identifying
risks and opportunities that are relevant to the Group’s objectives
and organisational structure, evaluating those using appropriate
qualitative and quantitative techniques, and formulating risk
management plans that are consistent with the Group’s risk appetite.
The Group has chosen both top-down and bottom-up approaches in
relation to risk management and internal control. It involves collating
and appraising bottom-up input from the heads of all corporate
departments, and senior management of business units of the Group,
with refinements and adjustments through top-down input from the
Board in an iterative manner.

With reference to the Internal Audit Manual of the Group, the Group’s
internal audit function has been established to provide risk-based
and objective assurance, advice and insight to the Board through
the Audit Committee. It also helps the Group accomplish its strategic
objectives by bringing a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, internal
control and governance processes of the Group. To ensure that
key risks are addressed, expectations are managed and results are
properly communicated, the internal audit function maintains on-
going communication with the Board, the Audit Committee, senior
management, other assurance providers and employees during audit
assignment planning, execution and wrap-up.
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2018 Review

During the year, the Audit Committee and the Board have conducted
an ongoing review and monitoring of the effectiveness of the risk
management, reviewed and discussed the internal control review
report submitted. A comprehensive risk assessment exercise was
conducted to identify and prioritise the key risks perceived and
faced by the Group. Certain key risks summarised in the form of a
risk register were identified and categorised into strategic business,
financial, operational and compliance aspects in a risk heat map in
terms of impact and likelihood of occurrence. The Group performed
internal control related activities according to the Internal Audit Plan
of 2018. The internal audit function assessed the major changes in
the organisational structure that occurred during the previous audit
cycle and the changes that were planned for the coming audit cycle.
Revisiting and updating the internal audit plan was considered for any
major organisational changes. In addition, the Company has put in
place internal control measures to minimise sanction risks. The Group
has established a risk committee comprising the deputy chairman
of the Board and all three independent non-executive directors and
chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company to take charge
of such measures.

Based on the reviews, the Board considered that (i) the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate with reference to the COSO; (ii) the Group had complied
satisfactorily with the requirements of the CG Code in respect of risk
management and internal control systems; and (iii) the Group has
internal control measures in place to address any sanction risks that
the Group is or is to be facing.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication with
the shareholders and investors. The Company communicates with
the shareholders and investors through various channels including
investors’ conferences, TV interviews, press releases, and publication
of interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars and other
corporate communications and publications available on the websites
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Company encourages the participation of the shareholders
through annual general meetings and other general meetings where
the shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board, and to
exercise their right to vote at meetings. The Company shall arrange
notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed
resolutions to be sent to the shareholders. At general meetings,
separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors.
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The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’ views are
heard and understood, and welcomes their questions and concerns
relating to the Group’s management and governance. The Company’s
website provides email address and telephone number to enable
the shareholders to make any enquiries and concerns to the Board.
Shareholders may also at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing to the Chief Executive Officer by post or
by email. The contact details are set out in the Corporate Information
section of this Annual Report.

Subject to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the
“Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders
holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the
Company have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company, to request a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within
three months after the deposit of such requisition. Any number of
shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of the Company on the date of the requisition or not less than 100
shareholders of the Company are entitled to put forward a proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company. Shareholders
should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in Section
79 of the Act for putting forward such proposal at a general meeting.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
report of Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The report summarises the
performance for the year ended 31 December 2018.

This report covers the key operations of the Group in two
differentiated services, including distribution and warehousing,
and aviation. The report is compiled in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group believes that creating long-term value for stakeholders
is important to sustain its business success. As a company with
services spanning across several continents, the Group strives to
engage and gain trust and support from its various stakeholders.
These include customers, employees, suppliers, investors and the
wider community as a whole. The Group engages its stakeholders
on a regular basis, through various channels, such as conferences,
interviews and surveys. Stakeholders’ inputs on what ESG issues
matter the most are collected and prioritised. The following sections
of the report cover environmental protection, employment and labour
practices, operating practices and community investment.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner through
mitigating emissions, improving energy efficiency and reducing its
impacts on the environment.

The Group recognises that pollution prevention and resource
conservation are key to combating climate change, and effectively
integrates these concepts into its business decision making.

The Group strictly observes local rules and regulations on
environmental protection. For example, the Group’s flagship aviation
business in Kenya follows the policies approved by National
Environment Management Authority (NEMA), a government agency
responsible for environmental policy and the management of the
environment.

Enhancing fuel efficiency is a key focus of the Group’s environmental
protection efforts and technology play a key part in driving the
Group’s sustainable development. For example, at the Group’s
ground logistics business, drag-reducing devices are installed on
trucks to improve fuel efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions. These devices are estimated to lower fuel usage by 5%.
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Responsible waste management practices are adopted in the Group’s
processes. For example, within the Group’s aviation business, used
oil from aircraft servicing and maintenance is siphoned into drums for
storage and recycling by qualified vendors. The Group encourages
proper waste segregation and storage in designated receptacles on
its premises to facilitate material recovery and biological treatment.

The Group takes proactive measures to minimise the environmental
impact arising from its operations. For instance, the Group’s flagship
aviation business has relocated its full power engine runs to a
designated area located on the southern end of Wilson Airport in
Kenya, far from the neighbouring community and sensitive natural
habitats. This helps to reduce the impact of air and noise pollution
arising from aircraft test runs and vehicle movements. When replacing
fleet vehicles, the Group also takes fuel efficiency into account in its
decision making process. Fleet vehicles are constantly monitored for
excessive fuel usage. Where necessary, drivers are trained to drive
the vehicles in the most fuel efficient ways by observing practices
with regard to tyre pressures, harsh braking and acceleration, as well
as driver behaviour.

All employees are responsible and accountable for operating in an
environmentally responsible manner.

The Group has worked towards to raise staff awareness of
environmental management by implementing sustainable practices
at workplace. For example, to avoid energy wastage, employees
are reminded to turn off idle electrical appliances. To lower paper
consumption, double-sided printing, recycling of used paper and use
of electronic documentation are strongly encouraged. Dedicated bins
have been set up at the Group’s offices to facilitate waste separation
and recycling. Waste paper from the offices is delivered to an
approved paper recycler.

The Group strives to drive the environmental performance of its
logistics solutions to another level by continuous monitoring and
improvement. Regular reviews are carried out on a timely basis to
evaluate and explore alternative eco-friendly measures and practices.
Going forward, part of the Group’s strategy is to increase strategic
investment in energy-efficient technologies, such as sourcing for
greener fuels and aircraft as appropriate.

Total direct and indirect energy consumption intensity by revenue
remains stable when compared to 2017.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment

The Group believes that people are the foundation of its business
growth. The Group’s human resources policies and procedures cover
key aspects such as compensation, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, welfare and other benefits.

It is paramount for the Group to attract qualified talent both internally
and externally to support business ambitions.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance-based and
competitive. Eligible employees are entitled to other benefits in
addition to basic salary, such as medical insurance and retirement
funds. Share option and share award schemes are in place to reward
and differentiate performance. The remuneration packages are
reviewed regularly to keep up with the market.

The Group is committed to providing employees with an inclusive
workplace that embraces and promotes diversity and equal
opportunity. The Group has zero tolerance towards harassment and
discrimination of any form. Employees are hired and selected based
on their merits regardless of their race, colour, age, religion, sex and
national origin. For example, the Group’s flagship aviation business
adopted a “Fair and Just Culture Policy” to ensure that all personnel
are treated fairly. At the Group’s ground logistics business where the
majority of group employees are employed, grievance procedures
are enforced to make sure that the concerns of the employees are
heard and addressed in an equitable and fair manner. During the
year, the Group’s freight forwarding business achieved Level Four of
the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) framework
issued by the government of South Africa, demonstrating the Group’s
commitments in achieving racial diversity.

In the event of misconducts that warrant dismissal, the Group strictly
observes the disciplinary code to ensure necessary steps and
procedures are followed. Employees have the right to appeal the
outcome of the disciplinary hearing which are chaired by independent
labour consultants.
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Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety (OHS) is the Group’s first priority
when operating businesses. The Group adopts proper procedures
at the workplace to identify, mitigate and monitor health and safety
risks. Hazard assessments and safety monitoring are also carried
out frequently; results are followed up in a timely manner to drive
continuous improvement. Proper personal protective equipment and
first aid training are provided to employees. The Group protects
the safety of its people and assets by undertaking scrupulous fire
prevention measures, organising safety awareness workshops and
providing firefighting training. Fire and evacuation drills, fire hydrant
flow and pressure tests are conducted periodically.

The Group’s flagship aviation business is certified by the Department
of Occupational Safety and Health Services under the Ministry of
Health of the Republic of Kenya, in recognition of its achievements
in upholding workplace safety. Within the Group’s freight forwarding
business, toolbox talks covering topics such as safety, hazards,
health and equipment operations are held with frontline workers on a
daily basis. A third-party consultant was engaged in carrying out risk
grading audit annually to ensure compliance to local operational risk
standards.

The Group is committed to protecting the health and safety of
all individuals affected by its activities, including its employees,
contractors and the public. The Group ensures that every individual
employee works in a safe and healthy environment. Pilots and crew
working for the Group’s flagship aviation business are covered by
kidnap and ransom insurance to provide assurance for their safety.

Employees are encouraged and supported to maintain a healthy
work-life balance. In addition to subscribing to all standard aviation
safety regulations, the Group’s flight operations have enhanced
regimes around pre-flight rest and duty hours to further minimise
OHS-related risks caused by fatigue.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

RERZE

AEBREBEEBRETBINERBERFEE
Z2(0HS) - REBR TIEGARMNEEE
Fro AR RIEREEREET2HRER - &
SEMEMETRRIGERLZE2EETE IR
RIRESMAER  HBRENE - AEERES
RUEENEARERERZHEI - LERE
MEEREROBT MEIE - ARAR L 2 BT A | AR H
PBiaaEdl - REEIREENRZ R - XEBETRE
HBITNERRBUEER  EORERENRENH
o

AEEREENERXBEFSE A MBEREH
MBELERREFERERE  RAUEREETE
SRz EHENKE - EEERIEREIE - A
SENBERNRETENTE2ERE  BEX
2Bl BREMRBRIEEIE AEEZE
F=TEREFHRARIEERZ  UBRRTE
B EERRITE

AEEBNREEEBHATEZ T —REAZR
EhZz BREEES  APRERARAL A
SERREEEIEL2REMNREPITHE - K
SEEEMZERBEORITEREEABHDRR
BREEDR  UNERESHZE -

AREBB R B REAR TEEAE 2R
BV - RBTHAREMZER 2RO - A%
BB O 7% 28 BB I IR BT IR B B TERS T B 72
EHIE - AE— TR ERS I BB R R
AR -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HERERB®RSE

Development and Training

The Group believes that talent development is integral to sustaining
its competitive advantage and organic growth. Training programmes
are set up at business level to support daily job functions. For
instance, the Group places a high priority on honing the skills of its
ground logistics staff with a focus on the operation of warehouse
equipment. Furthermore, highly customised training courses are
available for pilots and engineers within the Group’s aviation
business. The Group also provides support and assistance to staff
to attend external training courses that are relevant to their areas of
expertise, in order to facilitate employees’ professional growth and
career progression.

During the year, a skills development committee has been formed
within the Group’s freight forwarding business to plan and organise
development and training for employees. In addition, more than fifty
management personnel of the Group’s logistic arm attended a ten-
day training on safety and security in China to prepare them for the
challenges of managing safety and security during operations.

Labour Standards

The Group strives to adhere to applicable local and international
labour standards and strictly prohibits the use of child or forced
labour in its operations. The Group’s suppliers and contractors are
expected to attain the same standard in their labour practices.

During the year, the Group’s freight forwarding business has become
a member of Supplier Ethical Data Exchange (SEDEX). SEDEX
Members Ethical Trade Audits (SMETA) were conducted to assess
the business’s performance around labour rights, health and safety,
the environment and business ethics.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group works closely with its suppliers and service providers
to support and optimise its complete logistic solutions. The Group
aspires to exert a positive influence over its suppliers to promote the
awareness of sustainability and manage risks within its supply chain,
including environmental, social and governance best practices. In
addition, a scrupulous and rigorous process for supplier monitoring
and screening is in place.

Product Responsibility

Since its establishment, the Group has focused on helping its
customers operate more securely and efficiently in frontier markets.
The Group emphasises service quality and reliability to differentiate
itself in the market and help its clients focus on meeting their project
milestones on time and within budget. The Group’s aviation business,
for example, has implemented an ISO 9001 quality management
system approved by UKAS and ANAB (US), with a wide scope of
provision of aviation logistics services, such as worldwide charter
flights and medical air ambulance charter. To maintain the reliability
of its aviation services, the Group conducts forecasts on capacity,
demand patterns and customer requirements to address potential
bottlenecks caused by hangar space, associated logistics and
custom procedures.

Furthermore, a complaint handling mechanism is in place to address
customers’ concerns. Complaints are properly documented upon
receipt and subsequently followed up in a timely and efficient
manner. Once complaints are verified, compensation is provided
to customers in accordance with established procedures and with
reference to prior cases.

Collected personal data is only accessible by authorised personnel
and is handled in a confidential manner.

Anti-corruption

The Group maintains a high standard of anti-corruption measures
and have zero-tolerance for any form of bribery, corruption or fraud.
Upon employment, all employees are introduced to the specific
requirements relating to the corruption policies in the company and
are provided with anti-corruption training in order to combat the
relevant risks to the business. For example, the Group’s aviation
business in Kenya strictly complies with the requirements of the
UK Anti-Bribery and Corruption Act and the Kenya Anti-Corruption
and Economic Crimes Act, and makes an effort to keep up to any
changes in regulations.

In addition, a whistle-blowing procedure is established with the
objective to provide a confidential channel to report on suspected
irregularities.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

EEER
HrEgEEE

AEEEEREREEERTIEE  HRE
fE2EMRBRT R - AEBEREHHEETRK
FEFE  RIAGERNAIRHEEREANERE
HEZENORR BRERE HEREARRER
oo AN REBEEIEER LB HERE
BREERR -

EmEE

BEMKIZAR  NEE-EHEFRGEEF A
HMISEEERBRERLE - AEEZSRBELE X
LS RSHEEMSERHRATY  YAPER
FiREERERMNEEEKRFEE2HE EE2E -
BHME  AEENMEEBED EITUKASH
ANAB (EB)#L/ER10S 9001 8 EIRE X
AR EZ M RERRE « flan 2R e i
LEEZEPREDK - AN EREHATERE
BE  AEESETEREN  BREARER
TTER - LAEEMEZTR - B R RERRE
Fr Al 82| AR SEAR R ©

AN - AEEGIE TRFRENE - EERARE
PRRE - —&ZBIRHF - B/ Bire
ETRE - AREOBRE - RHF—KRE - BIKE
RERFI2REMEPIMESIELFHE -

R AL AT BB M ELAER - AR
wHAEREMER -

RA&S

AR BB EEN B ASE - SEAR R
&5 BSAAHRBTERMAE - FAET
—BERA%  ENSHHRERKE ST
SR WG REDS Y BB 2 F AR
AR - Bl - AR BT E R D MR R B
SRR B R R B R) RCE R 3 R B R
EEDRRONESR - WENEFREERNE
EE -

AN - REBEEHIERRIEF -
TRRFEREZENRHREE -

EERRLZR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HERERB®RSE

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to support development in the communities
where it operates by working closely with a number of charities.
In recent years, we have engaged in various community activities,
including but not limited to:—

—  supporting and participating in educational fieldtrips to promote
children’s awareness in conserving wildlife under Carolina for
Kibera’s Child Outreach Programme in Nairobi, Kenya;

—  cooperating with Support Teacher Empowerment Trust by
providing training to teachers and equipping them with
necessary knowledge and skills to support and educate the
disadvantaged youths;

— working with Phakamani Trust, a local non-profit organization
aiming to empower rural young women, to combat poverty and
unemployment in South Africa; and

—  transporting donated food to various charitable organizations
such as churches and children homes free of charge.

The Group also encourages its employees to actively participate in
volunteer works. When selecting charitable organizations to support,
the Group would evaluate their visions and backgrounds. Charities
with unclear financial position and operations are not considered so
as to ensure community investment goes to the needy.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group analyses and monitors the regulatory frameworks
applicable to the Group and prepares and updates internal policies
whenever necessary. Our Board oversees the Group’s management
and internal controls on an ongoing basis. With these mechanisms,
the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations relating to areas such as environmental
protection, employment and labour practices and operating practices
during the reporting period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HERERB®RSE

ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE

INDICATORS

Environmental KPIs
BRIEBARENES

Nitrogen Oxides emissions (NO,)
—ERHNE
Sulphur Oxides emissions (SO,)
—E tEBENE
Particulate matter emissions (PM)
PRIV E B E
Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
RERBAHENRE
Scope 1 — Direct emissions and removals
HE 1 — BB
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions
E2 — BREEBEN
Total hazardous waste produced
FrEHX 2 BEREEYES
Total non-hazardous waste produced
FEAZBEEEDES
Total energy consumption
BERERES
Total direct energy consumption
BEERRERES
Diesel oil
4e5m
Gasoline/Petrol
FUH
Kerosene
Bom
Total direct energy consumption intensity
by revenue
et 2 g REEERE
Total indirect energy consumption
MERARS
Purchased electricity
BEEEE
Total indirect energy consumption intensity
by revenue
N ast 2 M ReEERE
Water consumption
FEKE
Water consumption intensity by revenue
A as 2 K ERE
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REBARENER
Unit 2018
By —E-N\F
tonne 17.26
T
tonne 0.02
i
tonne 1.25
14
tonne CO.e 7,433.65
=L Bk Bk HE 2
tonne CO.e 6,554.66
Z b R B PABE B
tonne CO.e 878.99
Z b bR B A E 2L
tonne 3.90
i
tonne 239.42
14
kWh 27,388,686.09
TR
kWh 26,380,383.65
T FLEF
kWh 14,239,956.89
T FLEF
kWh 6,688.64
TR
kWh 12,133,738.12
TR
kWh/HKD’000 revenue 30.44
FRE W THET
kWh 1,008,302.43
T FLEF
kWh 1,008,302.43
T FLEF
kWh/HKD’000 revenue 1.16
FRE WS THET
m?® 56,913.72
3K
m*/HKD’000 revenue 0.07
SR s T T

2017
—E—+tF

12.64

0.02

0.91

7,640.19

6,716.63

923.56

7.07

162.65

28,251,508.79

27,218,161.91

11,765,608.67

12,5673.84

15,439,979.41

36.44

1,033,346.88

1,033,346.88

1.38

19,178.60
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Zhenming aged 62, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 December 2018. Mr.
Chang holds a master of business administration from The College
of Insurance in New York and has a broad range of experience in
banking, finance and securities business. Mr. Chang is currently the
chairman and an executive director of CITIC Limited (stock code:
267), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). CITIC
Limited is an indirect substantial shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 25.91% issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this Annual Report. Mr. Chang is also the chairman of
CITIC Group Corporation and CITIC Corporation Limited, and the vice
chairman of CITIC International Financial Holdings Limited. He was
formerly the vice chairman and president of China Construction Bank
Corporation (stock code: 939 (H share); 601939 (A share)), the non-
executive director and deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited (stock code: 293), the non-executive director and the chairman
of the board of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (stock code:
998 (H share); 601998 (A share)), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and/or the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. He was also formerly a non-executive director of China
CITIC Bank International Limited and the chairman of CITIC Hong Kong
(Holdings) Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Erik D. Prince, aged 49, was appointed as an executive director
on 10 January 2014 and has been re-designated from Chairman to a
Deputy Chairman of the Company since 6 December 2018. He is also
a director of a subsidiary of the Company and a committee member
of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Prince is a US-born entrepreneur, philanthropist, military
veteran and private equity investor with business interests in Africa,
Europe, the Middle East and North America in the fields of logistics,
aviation services, manufacturing, natural resources development and
energy. He is the founder and chairman of Frontier Resource Group, a
private equity firm active across the African continent in areas such as
exploration, mining and energy development. Mr. Prince is the founder
of Blackwater, the leading global private security company, which
he sold in 2010. Mr. Prince was educated at Hillsdale College. Upon
graduation, he enlisted in the US Navy, where he served as a Navy
SEAL officer until 1996.

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, aged 67, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1998 and a Deputy Chairman of
the Company since January 2014. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company and is a committee member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Ko is an executive director of Branding China Group
Limited (stock code: 863), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ko has extensive experience in direct
investment, merger and acquisition, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecom) and financial service.

Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 RS &= E AR A 7
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Mr. Luo Ning, aged 60, has been an executive director of the
Company since October 2006 and a Deputy Chairman of the
Company since January 2014. Mr. Luo is currently an assistant
general manager of CITIC Group Corporation, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, the chairman of CITIC Networks Co.,
Ltd, CITIC TMT and CITIC Guoan Information Industry Company
Limited (stock code: sz000839), which is a public company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC"). He is a director of Baiyin Nonferrous Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 601212.ss), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
in PRC. Mr. Luo is a non-executive director and an executive director
of Asia Satellite Telecommunications Holdings Limited (stock code:
1135) and CITIC Telecom International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1883), respectively, both of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He is also a non-executive director of Lajin
Entertainment Network Group Limited (stock code: 8172), which is
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. He
also holds directorships in several other subsidiaries of CITIC Group
Corporation. Mr. Luo has extensive experience in telecommunication
business and holds a Bachelor Degree in Communication Speciality
from The Wuhan People’s Liberation Army Institute of Communication
Command in the PRC.

Dr. Hua Dongyi, aged 54, has been appointed as an executive
director and the Acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
26 July 2016. On 22 March 2017, he has officially become the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He is also an executive director
of VDM Group Limited, which is listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange. Dr. Hua graduated from the Chengdu University of
Technology (formerly known as Chengdu College of Geology) with a
Bachelor Degree in Engineering in 1984, and also received his Master
Degree and Doctoral Degree in Engineering from the China University
of Geosciences in 1990 and 1996 respectively. Dr. Hua has over
20 years’ experience in international engineering project bidding,
international contract management of consulting projects, project
management, project evaluation, cost and risk management and
planning, organising, implementing, operating of major infrastructure
projects and constructing and developing of large mining projects.

Mr. Hu Qinggang, aged 44, has been an executive director of
the Company since October 2006. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He has extensive experience in the
finance field and had worked in the Finance Department of CITIC
Group Corporation, a substantial shareholder of the Company, as
the deputy director of the Finance and Planning Division. Mr. Hu
holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics from the Beijing University of
Technology and a Master Degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics in the PRC.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, aged 73, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2004. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and a committee member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Yap holds a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, in the United Kingdom.
He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in
finance and accounting. He retired as the managing director of
Johnson Matthey Hong Kong Limited in June 2007 and prior to
that appointment he was the general manager of Sun Hung Kai
Development (China) Limited. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Concord New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 182), which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and Brockman Mining Limited (stock code: 159) (stock code: BCK),
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the
Australian Securities Exchange.

Professor Lee Hau Leung, aged 66, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2014. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a committee member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Professor Lee is the Thoma Professor of Operations, Information
and Technology at the Graduate School of Business at Stanford
University and the chairman of the board of the Fung Academy. His
areas of specialisation include supply chain management, information
technology, global logistics system design, inventory planning, and
manufacturing strategy. He is the founding and current co-director
of the Stanford Value Chain Innovation Initiative. He was elected
a member of the United States National Academy of Engineering
in 2010. He obtained his Bachelor of Social Science degree in
Economics and Statistics from The University of Hong Kong in 1974,
his Master of Science degree in Operational Research from the
London School of Economics in 1975, and his Master of Science and
PhD degrees in Operations Research from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania in 1983. He was awarded an Honorary
Doctorate of Engineering degree by the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in 2006 and an Honorary Doctorate from
the Erasmus University of Rotterdam in 2008. Professor Lee is an
independent non-executive director of each of Lion Rock Group
Limited (formerly known as 1010 Printing Group Limited), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; Synnex Corporation,
a public company listed on The New York Stock Exchange in the
United States; and Esquel Enterprises Limited, a private company
based in Hong Kong. Also, Professor Lee has been re-designated as
a non-executive director of Global Brands Group Holding Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 14
June 2017.
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Dr. Harold O. Demuren, aged 73, has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2014. He is also
a committee member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Dr.
Demuren is an aeronautical engineer and the chief executive officer
of Harold Demuren Consulting. With over 45 years of experience
in both the public and private sectors of the aviation industry, Dr.
Demuren has been a strong proponent of aviation safety and security,
especially advocating and spreading safety regulatory oversight on
the African continent. He was the chief executive officer of Afrijet
Airlines, a successful cargo airline, which had strategic alliances with
foreign partners servicing Africa, Europe and the Americas from 1998
to 2005. He is the founder of Evergreen Apple Nigeria, the first fully
integrated fixed based operations and maintenance facility hangar
in Nigeria. He was appointed as the Director General of the Nigerian
Civil Aviation Authority from 2005 to 2013 and was the first to provide
vital information to the public on the failed attempt of the “Christmas
Day Bomber” in 2009. He successfully attained US Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) Category One Certification for Nigeria and was
the first African to be elected as the President of the International
Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) General Assembly in Montreal in
2010. For his contribution to aviation safety globally, Dr. Demuren has
received numerous awards including the 2010 Laura Taber Barbour
Air Safety Award and the 2014 FSF-Boeing Aviation Safety Lifetime
Achievement Award from Flight Safety Foundation. Dr. Demuren holds
a Master of Science degree in Aeronautical Engineering from the Kiev
Institute of Aeronautical Engineers in the former Soviet Union and a
Doctor of Science degree in the field of gas turbines, specialising
in aircraft jet engines, from the Department of Aeronautics and
Astronautics of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung King Yu, Wilson, aged 46, has been the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since July 2018. Mr. Leung has more than 23
years of auditing, financial, accounting and advisory related experience
of which he spent 10 years working in Mainland China. Prior to joining
the Group, he worked at the audit and assurance department of
Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm, for more than 17
years. He retired from the partnership at Ernst & Young in September
2012. Afterwards, Mr. Leung worked as the Chief Financial Officer
for two other main board listed companies. His experience covers a
wide variety of industries including automotive, telecommunication,
property development, oil transportation, logistic and manufacturing.
He had extensive experience in merger and acquisitions, initial public
offerings, fund raising exercises and group restructuring. Mr. Leung
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Uldarico Ard Peregrino Jr., aged 49, is the Chief Security Officer
of the Group and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
He has advised the corporate and national security level programs in
the industry since 1994, and has managed complex, global integrated
security and logistics programs in various capacities over the past
20 years. Mr. Peregrino began his career as a United States Marine.
After completing his seven-plus years of service, Mr. Peregrino entered
the International Corporate Security industry, quickly progressing to
managing large VIP security operations and developing critical training
for close protection teams. He also served as a local law enforcement
officer where he was awarded two “Valor Awards”. Among other
certifications, Mr. Peregrino holds one of the most respected Aviation
Security Certification, the AVSEC PMC certified by ICAO. He has
published papers on many security topics and has participated in the
international arena as a featured speaker for the corporate security
industry and law enforcement.

Mr. Liu Zhigang, aged 46, has been the general manager of East
Africa Region and the country manager in the Democratic Republic
of Congo (the “DRC”) for the Company since July 2018. Mr. Liu is
responsible for overseeing the Company’s business and operations
in Kenya, South Sudan, Somalia, Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique
and the DRC. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as vice
president and director of Weihai International Economic and Technical
Cooperation Co., Ltd. and chairman of Zhengwei Company in the
DRC. Mr. Liu has extensive working experience in handling overseas
projects including project bidding, project management and localised
management and he is familiar with the financing and business model
for projects along the Belt and Road Initiative. He is familiar with the
business environment in Africa and has a good reputation among local
political and business strategists. Mr. Liu graduated from Qingdao
University with a Bachelor of Science degree and studied at Central
University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Liu has also equipped with
extensive financial background.
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Mr. Liu Jun, Jason, aged 46, is the Head of Logistics of the
Group overseeing the Group’s logistics for sea, air and ground
transportation solutions across the entire business regions. Mr. Liu is
based in Group’s global logistics centre in Shanghai and brings with
him over 21 years of experience in the international logistics industry,
Previously, he was General Manager of Sinotrans (Australia) Pty
Limited and was responsible for all the logistics services in Australia,
which was the world’s largest iron ore project from 2007 to 2011. Mr.
Liu has a bachelor’'s degree in International Shipping Management
from Shanghai Maritime University and a master’s degree in Logistics
Engineering and Management from the University of Western
Australia.

Mr. Su Bin, aged 39, is the Head of Group Insurance division,
focusing on the risk management and insurance solutions business of
the Group. Mr. Su has more than 16 years working experience in risk
management and insurance industry, offering tailor-made insurance
programs and integrated risk solutions for clients like overseas
projects and multinational enterprises. Before joining the Group, he
worked in line of Construction & Energy of JLT Insurance Broker
Co., which was a Jardine Matheson associate company. His clients
included many types like power generation, infrastructure, oil and
gas, renewable energy etc. in high-risk areas such as Southeast Asia,
Central Asia, Africa and South America. Mr. Su worked as Assistant
General Manager of the Captive Insurance Department of Generali
China, and Assistant General Manager of P&C Technical Department
of Jiangtai Insurance Broker Co. once before. He holds Master
Degree of Insurance (Central University of Finance and Economics),
Bachelor Degree of Economics (Beijing Commercial College),
ANZIIF (Fellow) CIP, and is a registered broker of China Insurance
Regulatory Commission.

Mr. Lv Chaohai, aged 55, is the Head of Northwest Region, who
is responsible to oversee the Company’s business and operations
in Pakistan, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and other major countries in
Northwest Asia. Prior to working with the Company, Mr. Lv was vice
president of Xinjiang Production and Construction Corporations and
director of its international company, having extensive overseas
working experience in project operation, equipment procurement as
well as localization, security, training, education and employment
of Chinese and foreign labor. Mr. Lv is a graduate of Xi'an Jiaotong
University and a certificate holder of senior engineer and construction
engineer.
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Ms. Cui Jiming, aged 53, is the Global Human Resources Director
of the Group, overseeing and operating human resources matters
across all of the offices and subsidiaries in Asia, Middle East and
Africa, creating and implementing human resource strategy of the
Group to transform the strategic objectives into the common goals
and actions of all employees. Previously, Ms. Cui served as the
Deputy General Manager of CITIC construction Technology Center
(Planning & Design Institution), responsible for administration
management, human resources management, security management,
social responsibility management of Angola KK Housing Project, RED
Social Housing Project, Agricultural Development and Construction
Project, Geological Survey and other projects. Ms. Cui is a graduate
of Lanzhou Jiaotong University, holding a bachelor’'s degree in
Industrial and Civil Construction and a master’s degree in Economic
Management, and a certificate holder of Senior Engineer, Senior
Project Manager and Corporate Trainer.

Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, aged 45, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since 2006. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from the University of
British Columbia in Canada with a Bachelor Degree in Commerce
and holds a certificate of Certified Public Accountant issued by the
Washington State Board of Accountancy in the United States. He has
extensive experience in accounting and corporate finance.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESEHRE

The directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of Frontier Services Group Limited (the
“Company”) are investment holding and management. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the year by operating segments is set out in Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 64.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not
recommend the payment of any dividend (2017: Nil) for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
Annual Report. The review forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are provided in the paragraph below.

Detailed discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders, and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this Annual Report. The discussions form part of the Report of the
Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks, including factors that are
unique to the Group and the markets in which it operates, in addition
to those risks that are shared by most other businesses. The Group
has implemented a risk management and internal control framework
to identify current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
Group in order to monitor and mitigate their adverse impacts.
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The following discussion highlights the risks that are believed to
be the most germane to the Group at this time. Any or all of the
Group’s business, financial status, operations, personnel, and
outlook may be adversely or, potentially, materially affected by the
identified risks. The scope of the risks influencing the Group may
exceed those presented herein, so the following is not intended
to be comprehensive. Rather, the list of risks may include in the
future unknown matters that ultimately have an impact, material or
otherwise, on the Group.

Geopolitical Environment — The Group’s core business is the
provision of logistics, security and insurance services to customers
operating across the Belt and Road region from Asia to Africa.
The Group’s target geographies include many of the world’s
fastest growing markets. However, the orderly transition of elected
leadership, especially within less developed countries, has been
challenged at times, creating localised political risk. In addition,
regional pockets of terrorism often directed toward governments
and related agencies, can compound the geopolitical risk inherent.
Therefore, diversification, across end-markets, service capabilities
and operating locations, is the cornerstone of the Group’s process to
mitigate geopolitical risk.

Economic Environment — The Group employs a strategy of
diversification to hedge against cyclical downturns in geographic
regions and specific end-markets. Nevertheless, the Group’s regional
markets, writ large, have been and will continue to be affected by
commodity prices and balance-of-trade issues.

Compliance — Similar to the intrinsic geopolitical risk arising from
operating in Africa, corruption is found in fast-growing markets. The
Group rigorously adheres to all applicable anti-bribery statues of
various jurisdictions and offers a thorough anti-corruption training
program to all of its staff members to reduce the risk of corruption to
the business.

Aviation — The Group has invested considerable resources into the
development of its aviation capabilities. The global aviation market
carries numerous inherent risks, from the safe operation of aircraft
to the evolution of local regulatory policies. The Group follows all
policies and procedures to ensure that its aviation operations are fully
compliant with the relevant civil aviation authority and that it operates
its fleet in the safest and most reliable manner.

Competition — The Group has endeavoured to be the first business
to bring a complete logistics, security and insurance service solution
to Belt and Road markets. Within its primary aviation and logistics
segment — air and ground — the Group faces strong competition from
existing competitors specialising in one or more of the Group’s lines
of service. The Group continually adapts its tactical response to
the ever-changing competitive landscape across its target markets.
Combining security services with logistics, aviation and insurance
offerings is a huge market differentiator.
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Global Operations — The Group, headquartered in Hong Kong, now
conducts operations in three continents, Asia, Africa and Europe. As
a result, considerable ongoing coordination is required to manage
the business in the most effective manner across multiple time zones
and numerous geographies.

Financial — The Group operates across multiple jurisdictions and
conducts business in multiple foreign currencies. As such, the Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risks and even exchange control. The
Group monitors its cash position and overall near-and medium-term
liquidity on a weekly basis, and makes all necessary adjustments to
ensure that the business has a functioning capital structure.

Strategy — The Group is fully committed to its strategic development
of an integrated logistics, security and insurance service offering.
The execution of this vision requires great coordination among the
Group’s operating businesses, in addition to the cooperation of other
potential partners. Further, the fulfillment of the Group’s strategy may
require the addition of new geographic or service capabilities, either
through greenfield investment or corporate acquisition. While the
Group proactively plans for these potential requirements, there are no
assurances that the required investment opportunities will exist in the
future.

Personnel — The Group’s success is ultimately determined by its
dedicated staff, and the ability to grow the business is predicated
on the Group’s ability to recruit, train, and retain highly qualified
personnel who share a passion for the corporate vision. The loss
of any key staff member or a failure to attract new personnel could
have a negative and potentially material effect on the Group and its
prospects.

Highly Regulated Business — The Group is subject to a number of
national and local regulatory bodies by virtue of its global operations.
Failure to comply with any one of the applicable regulatory
regimes could have an adverse impact on the Group’s operation.
Consequently, the Group expends substantial resources ensuring
its businesses operate in a fully compliant manner, often with the
assistance of third-party service providers who specialise in such
matters.

Sanction Risks — The Group is subject to sanction risks imposed
by various bodies by virtue of its global business in frontier markets.
These sanction risks might impose restrictions to the Group’s
business and might have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. The Company has put in place various measures, including
but not limited to seeking external legal counsel’'s advice and
establishing a risk committee, to ensure these sanction risks would
not have a material impact on the Group’s operation. During the year,
the Group has established a subsidiary in Myanmar, of which the
principal activities are the provision of logistics and security services.
We had assessed the sanction risks exposure of this subsidiary and
no activities conducted by this subsidiary were exposed to sanction
risks.
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The risk committee of the Company had also adopted a sanction
policy and terms of reference. The members of the Risk Committee
had also met several times to assess and evaluate sanction risks with
consultation with external legal counsels on the countries (i.e. the
Democratic Republic of Congo, Myanmar, Irag and South Sudan),
where the Group has or plans to have business operations, which
may be subject to sanctions imposed by United Nations, European
Union, United States of America and/or Australia.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE
AWARD

Details of the movements in the share capital, share options and
share award of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in Notes 29, 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December 2018, which
solely comprised contributed surplus, amounted to HK$558,899,000
(2017: HK$558,899,000). Details of the movements in the reserves of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no charitable and other
donation was made by the Group (2017: HK$89,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any
distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong
Laws, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to
the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of dividend
will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

. shareholders’ interests;

o retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed
surplus of the Company and each of the other members of the
Group;
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o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends or other convenants
on the Group’s financial ratios that may be imposed by the
Group’s financial creditors;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

. statutory and regulatory restrictions;
o general business conditions and strategies;
o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific periods.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, non-
controlling interests and shareholders’ equity of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 204 of the Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2018. Neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this report are:

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chang Zhenming (“Mr. Chang”) (appointed with effect from
6 December 2018)

Executive Directors

Mr. Erik D. Prince (“Mr. Prince”)

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (“Mr. Ko”)
Mr. Luo Ning (“Mr. Luo”)

Dr. Hua Dongyi (“Dr. Hua”)

Mr. Hu Qinggang (“Mr. Hu”)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (“Mr. Yap”)
Professor Lee Hau Leung (“Professor Lee”)
Dr. Harold O. Demuren (“Dr. Demuren”)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Chang, Mr. Prince,
Dr. Hua and Mr. Hu will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive directors and considers them
to be independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the statues,
every director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out and maintained
insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending
any proceedings which may be brought against the directors of the
Company. The level of coverage is reviewed annually.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme and the share award scheme
of the Company as set out in Notes 30 and 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively and the preference shares issued
by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, there
were no other equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2018 or subsisted as at 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2018.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 37 to 44 of the
Annual Report.

fR SR 10 R

B BIERERE M B HREMFEI0 K31 2 AR
FERRIE T8I IR0 IRED T 1A R BN AR & BT 5
FMFEISHA AT EENEB AT DVN (Group)
Limited 84T 2 BEBRIN » ARRIBEREE =
E-NF+ A=+ HLFEIVHIR_-Z
—N\F+_A=t+—BFEHEME S LER
RAREITRG » R EARB T LA E R
ARG AN RIEHITIRGD 2 i < IRER 1

22
A °

EERBEEN
BREERRAFA G LEREF2ESE  HE
BARNB LR —FRRNHECEEME
BRIM ML L2 RIS A4 o

BEERRG ZHERENP2EREH

REGEHFIBE_ZT-N\F+_A=1T—HILF
EAEMESRE - AR B REMNEQRGERTE
M RAEBZEBMARE 2 EE TR R EE
EEPREEARGANATEZEERS &
BB -

ESREREBABZBREFE

ARRZEERAEBZSREBABZBREF
ISEYNFREI7TEZ44 8 ©

Annual Report 2018 3R

51



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS BEERAQRTRNEMABE LB R B RE
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE RO ZEZRKRA

COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the RZZBE—N\F+-_A=+—8 EFRAQAH
directors in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or EBEAE(FERELANBEEKMANTESRE
its associated corporations, as defined in Part XV of the Securities BB 1) E XV ED) 2 Bin Bt P HE A B

and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and as recorded in the register ABRRNBIRBEFS LHEERIE2KEFEEZE
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO S EAE - AR E BT AESET
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of BHERGWRESTR([EESFR ) ASITME AR
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model RNEINEBHERIBRAT ([BRT]) 2%
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the mERBWT ¢

“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the REQXTBRAREERDZEFR
Company
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held FrisEE % of the
MEEERYA RO#E issued share
Name of Personal Family Corporate Personal capital of the
director interests interests interests Total interests Grand total Company
EEARERT
Esps 18 ARz RkER DEER @t B AR @t BREABAL
Mr. Prince 200,690,657 — — 200,690,657 — 200,690,657 8.56%
Prince %4
Mr. Ko — 2,040,816 268,776,719 270,817,535 — 270,817,535 11.55%
BEE (Note (i) (Note (ii)
(Ht()) (Bt (i)
Dr. Hua — — — — 48,231,090 48,231,090 2.06%
EE+ (Note (iii))
(Mgt (iri)
Mr. Hu 9,814,000 — - 9,814,000 — 9,814,000 0.42%
fibin
Mr. Yap — — — — 1,400,000 1,400,000 0.06%
Ba4 (Note (iii))
(P (i)
Professor Lee 1,400,000 — - 1,400,000 — 1,400,000 0.06%
Dr. Demuren 1,400,000 — - 1,400,000 — 1,400,000 0.06%
Demuren i+
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(i) These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ko.
(i) This represents:

(a) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 48,276,719 ordinary
shares of the Company held by First Gain International Limited
under the SFO by virtue of his interests in First Gain International
Limited;

(b) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 175,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited;
and

(c) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 45,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Greater Harmony Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Greater Harmony Limited.

(iii) These represent the share options of the Company granted to the
respective directors under the Company’s share option scheme,
details of which are disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, none of the directors
had any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations which had been
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above and in
the share options disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to
any director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2018, other than the interests and short positions of
the directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the
section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, the following interests of 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO:

(i) ZERMEARLEZERBIZE -
(i)  ZBFE:

(a) WBEFHFRBEKRN - BN %KERFirst
Gain International Limited 228 » iR
{E# % First Gain International Limited 74
248,276,719 kAN E) E il 2 s

by WBEBEJBHFRBERM BRSEER
Rich Hill Capital umadZﬁé* AR
£ # A Rich Hill Capital Limited# A& 2
175,500,000 RA A B L MR 2 &

(c) BEFHERBEGRDN BREEER
Greater Harmony Limited 2 #2§ @ tRi15R
£ % 5 Greater Harmony Limited# & 2

45,000,000 FE AN 22 A E @Ak 2 A o
(i) ZEHRFTHEBEAAFERENEIETAHRESEY
AR EEARAE - HIBENERA IS IRKR 5 S0 L FE -

&%tiﬁﬁﬁeﬁ%ﬁl\ TRZE-NFETZA=1—

C BEEEN AR E S EEMARREE 2 )
‘Mﬁ?ﬂﬂxf’ﬁqﬂ%ﬁ ARARERE S LB EDIE
352G MEFE 2 ERMZEMAEEIIAR + IR

IR A1 2 17 A A A ) R R 2 (E
mﬁ/ﬂg °©
ESWBERGD 2 EF

B EX[E SRR RS A ARREE B A () & 48
MR 2 SRR | — B AT IR B AR A B 7
WMARMFE0FMIRE 2 BIRESN  EREELRE

FAZEBIARKE T ZHERFRTAKRE
ERTAREBARRRROMER 2R - THE
TTREAEIZ BN o AR REA(THER BTN
B2 AR BEESARSEMNE M
BB HERER -

FERRRHEMATRRD < EE

E-NF+A=1+—HB BEXEEFR
A SRR A B I ) RARBIA ) 2 e
I—EPRE L ARRAREEFREETHA
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the NAEAQNTROREBRO ZFE
Company
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held B
g BERYE ROEE % of the
Direct Through Through issued share
beneficially controlled controlled capital of the
Name owned corporation Total corporation Grand total Company
HERRH
BRTRA
% EEEEHE  BBEIEANR @ EBRIEAR st BAl
Easy Flow Investments Limited 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
BRYRERRAA
CITIC Investment (HK) Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
HEREER(BE)ERAR (Note (i)
(Biz)
CITIC Corporation Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
REREERAR (Note (ii)
(st (i)
CITIC Limited — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
FEAERHERAT (Note (iii))
(it (i)
CITIC Group Corporation — 607,592,607 607,592,607 — 607,592,607 25.91%
mEREEEERAT (Note (iv))
(B (iv))
Taiping Trustees Limited 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 160,000,000 6.82%
AFHEEBRRA
Taiping Financial Holdings Company — 160,000,000 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
Limited (Note (v))
AFERIERER AT (Hizt(v)
China Taiping Insurance Holdings — 160,000,000 160,000,000 — 160,000,000 6.82%
Company Limited (Note (vi))
RERTREERERAF izt (vi)
Trinity Gate Limited 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
Timeness Vision Limited — 175,399,571 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
(Note (vii))
(W&t (vii)
Teng Rongsong — 175,399,571 175,399,571 — 175,399,571 7.48%
eI (Note (viif)
(W32 (vili))
Rich Hill Capital Limited 175,500,000 — 175,500,000 — 175,500,000 7.48%
(Note (ix))
(Hizt (ix)
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(if)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Save
(other

CITIC Investment (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in Easy
Flow Investments Limited.

CITIC Corporation Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Investment (HK) Limited.

CITIC Limited is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited under
the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Corporation Limited.

CITIC Group Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607
ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited
under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Limited. Mr. Luo Ning,
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Company, is an
employee of CITIC Group Corporation.

Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company held
by Taiping Trustees Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in
Taiping Trustees Limited.

China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares held by Taiping Trustees
Limited by virtue of its interests in Taiping Financial Holdings Company
Limited.

Timeness Vision Limited is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares of the Company held by Trinity Gate Limited under the
SFO by virtue of its interests in Trinity Gate Limited.

Mr. Teng Rongsong is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares held by Trinity Gate Limited by virtue of its interests in
Timeness Vision Limited.

Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the 175,500,000 shares of the
Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under the SFO by virtue
of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited. Such interest forms a
part of the corporate interests in the ordinary shares of the Company
interested by Mr. Ko as set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above. Mr. Ko is a director of Rich Hill Capital Limited.

as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, no other person
than the directors or chief executive of the Company whose

interests are set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above)
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

B BRI EEE S -

BEEHFLRBAEGRD  ARPERETR(EA)AE
RARFHARBIEGRAR 2 - BOERIERE
BRYKEBRAAFFA AR EF 607,592,607 i
LMk o R o

RIEBHRBEKRY ARFRFEEARAFFEE
PEREER(EB)BERAAZER  BIE R
BREYVEBRARRFAZALQF 607,592,607 &
TR S

RIBFFEHFLHEGED - BRPEBEROERAF
BEPREPEERAR ER  MERIEEERE
K EBRRAAEE 2R A A 607,592,607 it T @Ak
2 e

BEIFHFRBERS  ARPEPEEEERAF
BEPEPEROAERAR ZER - MWRERES
BYREFR A AFRA ZARRF 607,592,607 i
Bk c ARAIZEIEERNTEFTRELE
ABREREEEAFRARZES -

BEFHFRBERDN  ARAFSRIERERAR]
BEATERERAR EE - MERIEEEAT
ZFEAR A al#FH 2 24728 160,000,000 A% I 38 A%
P2 o

BEFEHFRBAEGRD - AP EKTFREZERER
AAPBAERFEMIERER AR ZIER - BRRE
A K FEFARRAFEFA Z A2 F 160,000,000
AR BAR R 2 ek o

RIEESLEEES - SR Timeness Vision Limited
A8 Trinity Gate Limited 2 #%5 © MR IEHA
Trinity Gate Limited #5852 AA 175,399,571 f&
LRz i e

BEFHFRAEEO BRBEEREERH
Timeness Vision Limited 7 ## + SR I1EHE S
Trinity Gate Limited $58 2 ZR2 8] 175,399,571 %
B 2 i

BEFHLBAEBK - AR EERFARICh Hil
Capital Limited < # % + #0448 YE¥E A Rich Hill
Capital Limited# & Z 175,500,000 f% 7 2 & %
M2 ZERRBEK EXEERAQAF KT
Al FEE A B D AR 2 = AR | — &R
Wz mREBARRRIEBR 2 REERS 2 — 3
1 » @£ ARich Hill Capital Limited 2 &% -
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 43% (2017: 44%) of the total sales
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 27% (2017:
30%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 12% (2017: 7%) of the total purchases for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 5% (2017: 2%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, the directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained at least 25% public float during the year as
required under the Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the financial position date, the Group did not have
any material events occurred.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
Director

Hong Kong, 22 March 2019
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To the Shareholders of Frontier Services Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 64 to 203, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BREpRE

BAERBEEBRAFARRK
(REREZEZMALHERL )

=
=N

EMEHEHAHRE

EERBEBERATNUATHBIELF ] R

HBAR(ATHBEI EREDIIHENECLE

203 E MR A ISR - BIE

e RIZ-)N\FF+ZA=+—AWERAEVE
MK

s HEZAULFEMNGEKERK

s HEZAULFENGAEZEKER

s HEZAULFENGEEREEHEK

s HEZHULFENGARERER R

s HAMBHmRME BERIZEIHREH
E:

EMHER

BPRR  ZEERAFBHRREREET LS
RERMIKFEVBREEINEEM T HHR
M7 EEER-_ZE-/\F+A=1t—HHK
BB REBEZR EFENGEPMBERA
RiFaReReE  WEEREB(RAEDDE B
BREHZ REME -

ERAER
BPEREBEEESHAMOSEMACTRELE
ADEITERR - RPEZFENTRENEEIS
EABEZBE BT RA M B REARED
A&t — R -

BFEE - HPMESHEREEZREE
AR MNET B RIREER -

Annual Report 2018 &R

57



58

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BED | E

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the

Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit
matter identified in our audit is related to impairment assessment of
goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of
goodwill, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements), Note
13 (Property, plant and equipment)
and Note 14 (Goodwill and other
intangibles) to the consolidated
financial statements

As at 31 December 2018, the Group
had goodwill before impairment
of HK$2,102,000 arising from the
acquisition of Maleth Aero Limited in
the Aviation and Logistics Business
segment (“AL Business Segment”).
The goodwill is subject to an annual
impairment assessment performed
by management.

In addition, the Group also owned,
as at 31 December 2018, intangible
assets and property, plant and
equipment before impairment of
HK$17,839,000 and HK$267,086,000,
respectively. A significant portion of
the intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment relates to the
AL Business Segment. These assets
require an impairment assessment if
an impairment indicator is identified.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to
management’s goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and
equipment impairment assessment
included the following:

We evaluated and challenged the
composition of management’s
future cash flow forecasts used
in their value-in-use calculations,
and the process by which they
were prepared. We found that
the cash flow forecasts prepared
by management were subject to
oversight and review by the directors
of the Company and was consistent
with the approved budgets of the
board of directors of the Company.
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Key Audit Matter

The AL Business Segment has been
loss making since becoming part of
the Group in 2013 and recorded an
operating loss of HK$196,737,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2018.
This represented an impairment
indicator for the relevant intangible
assets and property, plant and
equipment.

Management performed an
impairment assessment in respect of
the goodwill and intangible assets of
each AL Business Segment related
Cash Generating Unit (“CGU") using
the value-in-use method which
involved significant judgement
in determining the assumptions
used in the calculations. The key
assumptions include:

o annual growth rate;
. long-term growth rate; and;
o discount rate.

In relation to the impairment
assessment of property, plant and
equipment in each AL Business
Segment related CGU, management
determined the recoverable amount
as the higher of value-in-use and fair
value less costs of disposal, which
was calculated by benchmarking
against the price quotation of a
comparable model in the second-
hand market.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

We compared the current year actual
results with the amounts included in
the prior year cash flow forecast to
consider the quality of management's
forecasting, and we checked that
management had considered the
current year actual results in the
preparation of this year's forecasts.
We also inquired of management
to understand the reasons for the
deviation of the actual results for the
current year from prior year forecast,
comparing the explanations to our
market knowledge and expectations,
and checked that the relevant factors
had been taken into account in this
year’s forecasts.

The procedures we performed over
management’s key assumptions used
in the cash flow forecasts included:

. comparing annual growth rate
to historical actual figures;

. benchmarking the long-term
growth rate against industry
forecasts; and

. benchmarking the discount
rate against our research
on the discount rate for
comparable companies.

We evaluated sensitivity analysis
performed by management around
the key assumptions by calculating
the degree to which these
assumptions would need to change
to trigger further material impairment.
We determined that the calculation
was most sensitive to the growth
rates and discount rate assumptions,
and we discussed and challenged
management’s view on the likelihood
of such a change in the growth rates
and discount rate.
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Key Audit Matter

A provision for impairment of
HK$4,087,000 and HK$5,958,000
was made for the other intangibles
and property, plant and equipment,
respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2018. No provision
for impairment on the goodwill was
considered necessary as at 31
December 2018.

We focused on this area due to
the significance of the balances
and the significant judgements
involved in the assessment of the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs
including the assumptions used in
the calculation of value-in-use as well
as the judgement required to identify
suitable market comparable data to
determine the fair value less costs
of disposal of property, plant and
equipment.

OTHER INFORMATION

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

In relation to the fair value less costs
of disposal of property, plant and
equipment, we checked, on a sample
basis, the market price quotations
for comparable property, plant and
equipment identified by management
to the relevant source. We also
compared, on a sample basis,
the key specifications, including
the model, year of manufacture,
equipment and modifications of the
comparable property, plant and
equipment with those owned by the
Group to assess the suitability of the
comparison. We also performed our
own internet search, on a sample
basis, on the fair value less costs of
disposal of similar property, plant
and equipment.

Based on the procedures performed,
we found management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and
equipment to be supportable based
on the available evidence.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BED | E

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BED | E

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

E W R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-FT-N\ET-A=+—ALFE

2018 2017
—2-)N\F —T—t%

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bz FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with RERFPEHZ
customers WA 6 866,748 724,414
Cost of direct materials and job EEMHERR
expenses TEAX 10 (283,938) (131,705)
Cost of aircraft management services R E 12 ARk A (128,814) (125,448)
Data costs IR AR (7,028) (6,950)
Employee benefit expenses EERFFX 7 (211,722) (178,612)
Sub-contracting charges PEER (288,488) (295,382)
Operating lease rentals &ERNEe (33,438) (22,412)
Repair and maintenance costs # 15 MIRE KA (33,580) (35,694)
Depreciation and amortisation e R E 13, 14 & 19 (37,310) (35,375)
Other income and other gains/ Hi A RE kS~
(losses), net (E518) - 58 8,871 6,309
Other operating expenses EmEEER (98,144) (88,552)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHtHELREE Y
financial assets & — 592
Provision for impairment of other EMEREEZ
intangibles BB 14 (4,087) (9,000)
Provision for impairment of property, ¥%¥ - #25 kR EIA K&
plant and equipment and assets RIEREEEZ
held for sale RE R 13 (8,318) (23,633)
Operating loss EiEEE (259,248) (221,448)
Interest income B U A 12,426 9,463
Finance costs RbE AR 8 (13,928) (18,213)
Share of losses of associates FEfREE & N EEE 16 (1,517) (2,859)
Loss before income tax KR Fr 5 i Al & 18 (262,267) (233,057)
Income tax credit Frisfiife 9 5,644 9,955
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEFR 10 (256,623) (223,102)
Attributable to: LATR e -
Equity holders of the Company RRBERFAA 32 (258,846) (223,760)
Non-controlling interests FEFERRAE 2,223 658
(256,623) (223,102)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE #AQT##IFIFH ARG
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE SRER
COMPANY
Basic and diluted loss per share BIREAR R #EEE 11 (13.61) centsl (15.84) centsll
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEEHEWE R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-T-\F+t-A=t+-ALFE

2018 2017
—g-N\% —B—tf

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FAET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EEFE (256,623) (223,102)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hft 2w (&iE) ki
Items that have been reclassified or B E#HH\EH AR H %
may be subsequently reclassified BN EEERZ
to profit or loss T H
Foreign exchange differences R (7,005) 14,653
Change in value of available-for- AtHESREE L
sale financial assets BEEE 20 — (125)
Realisation of equity instrument PERAMEEESHEER
reserve upon disposal of e T ARFERE
available-for-sale financial
assets 32 — (604)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EEH 2@ (EE) W=
for the year, net of tax (BRFi1E) (7,005) 13,924
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEXHEGEAHE
FOR THE YEAR (263,628) (209,178)
Attributable to: LATR A -
Equity holders of the Company RARIERFEE A (265,746) (209,917)
Non-controlling interests RS 2,118 739
(263,628) (209,178)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i E AR R &
As at 31 December 2018
RZZE—N\F+=ZA=1+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hat FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HEE MRS 13 261,128 272,752
Goodwill and other intangibles AmERAMERLEE 14 15,854 28,121
Interests in associates i RN 16 8,074 9,848
Deferred income tax assets BEFSIHREE 17 7,501 7,249
Non-current prepayments FEBNER TR R 18 52,543 27,675
Prepaid operating lease rentals B EELER 19 1,328 1,351
Available-for-sale financial assets AHECREE 20 — 42
Financial assets at fair value through %27 EEE B E M2 m WS
other comprehensive income SRR e R EE 20 24 —
Total non-current assets IEREEERE 346,452 347,038
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T8 21 6,468 11,287
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 22 188,503 120,434
Prepayments, deposits and other B - EHe REMEK
receivables I 23 124,908 82,900
Tax receivables JPE U F T 1,143 905
Restricted cash ZPRHIE & 24 7,063 5,085
Pledged bank deposits BEIFRITER 24 153,635 231,365
Short-term bank deposits RESRITER 24 — 379
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFEFEY 24 677,811 65,228
1,159,531 517,583
Assets held for sale RHIEHERE 13(iif) — 19,556
Total current assets B EERE 1,159,531 537,139
Total assets BEHRE 1,505,983 884,177
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBE &
Trade payables B ENKIE 25 87,641 116,254
Other payables and accruals o fth &< 5IE R FERHE F 26 102,635 65,969
Contract liabilities aHAaE 6(b) 8,132 —
Borrowings B3 27 16,306 194,654
Tax payables FESFR IR 276 133
Total current liabilities MBI A ERRE 214,990 377,010
Net current assets MEEEFE 944,541 160,129

66  Frontier Services Group Limited %t 2 fR7G 4 E AR A Al



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e M BN K
As at 31 December 2018
R-E—\Ft=A=+—~

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HteE FET FET
Total assets less current liabilities BEABERRDEE 1,290,993 507,167
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Borrowings B3 27 45,970 58,905
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFSHAE 17 46,265 52,775
Other long-term liabilities HinREBE 7,237 7,546
Total non-current liabilities BB ELHE 99,472 119,226
Total liabilities BERE 314,462 496,236
Net assets BEEFE 1,191,521 387,941
EQUITY fE=
Equity attributable to the Company’s ARQFR#ERFH A
equity holders PG e
Share capital R A 29 234,482 144,970
Reserves fE 32 830,126 118,704
1,064,608 263,674
Non-controlling interests e IR R 33 126,913 124,267
Total equity B 1,191,521 387,941
Signed on behalf of the Board on 22 March 2019 by REBEZEEN _ET-HNE=A_+_HF=2
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Hua Dongyi
= R IE ER—
Director Director
EE EE

Annual Report 2018 4F 4} 67



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERSEX

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_ZT—\F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAERREAER
Non-
controlling
Share capital Reserves Total interests Total equity
B e @it iRk iR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiit FET FET FET FET FAT
At 1 January 2017 R-E-t&-f-H 123,370 152,033 275,408 123,528 398,931
Comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(FB) /Wi
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR)/&H - (223,760) (223,760) 658 (223,102)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 2 EUz/ (BE)
Foreign exchange differences EXEH — 14,572 14,572 81 14,653
Change in value of available-for- MEHESRHEEL
sale financial assets EERE 20 — (125) (125) = (125)
Realisation of equity instrument HEFHHESR
reserve upon disposal of BERERTA
available-for-sale financial FEER
assets 32 — (604) (604) — (604)
Other comprehensive income for the ~ £EHM2EKE
year, net of tax (BBi%) — 13,843 13,843 81 13,924
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EE2H(ER)/
for the year Wzie% . (209,917) (209,917) 739 (209,178)
Transactions with equity holders BESREAZRS
Issue of shares Eaikin 21,600 170,856 192,456 = 192,456
Share-based compensation IRAZ 2 BiE — 10,880 10,880 = 10,880
Lapse of share options BRERN - (879) (879) — (879)
Shares acquired for share award RIRAREHEEE L
scheme B - (4,269) (4,269) - (4,269)
21,600 176,588 198,188 — 198,188
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tF+=A=1+-H 144,970 118,704 263,674 124,267 387,941
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEmBBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE_Z—)\F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AAFAEEREARE
Non-
controlling
Share capital Reserves interests  Total equity
B 1 FERES iy 3
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA% FAT FEx A7 FEx
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NE-f-H 144,970 118,704 263,674 124,267 387,941
Comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (F8) /i
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(FB)/ &7 - (258,846) (258,846) 2,223 (256,623)
Other comprehensive loss A2 EEE
Foreign exchange differences ERES - (6,900) (6,900) (105) (7,005)
Other comprehensive loss for the FEEAMZERR
year, net of tax (BBite) - (6,900) (6,900) (105) (7,005)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for £E2E(ER),/
the year mE - (265,746) (265,746) 2,118 (263,628)
Transactions with equity holders HERHEAZRS
Issue of shares Rt 64,000 766,567 830,567 - 830,567
Exercise of share and other options ~ {T{EEERRIE ]t L s A 25,512 199,222 224,734 - 224,734
Share-based compensation IBRAX S 2 e - 11,379 11,379 - 11,379
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ —FHTB A AFEER
interest of a subsidiary ERZTE - - - 528 528
89,512 977,168 1,066,680 528 1,067,208
At 31 December 2018 R=E-\%¥+-B=t-H 234,482 830,126 1,064,608 126,913 1,191,521
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ll‘l_\éfﬁrﬁﬁl%%

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE-FN\F+-A=+—AILEE

2018 2017
=E-N\F —E—+%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RELEFH 2
ACTIVITIES RERE
Cash used in operations EEBMACRE 34 (280,525) (118,380)
Income tax paid BEIFEH (983) (654)
Net cash used in operating activities & EEFTH 2R EFE (281,508) (119,034)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZFHZ
ACTIVITIES HERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME M RE
equipment 13 (14,362) (10,052)
Purchase of intangibles BEEFEE 14 — (7,982)
Proceeds from disposal of property, H&EE - #E L& E
plant and equipment FrfS kI8 34 6,162 25,729
Proceeds from disposal of assets HERELEEEZ
held for sale P8 sk 18 — 780
Deposit paid for purchase of FEE T A4
land-use-rights [EENE & (22,926) —
Acquisition of an associate W iE — KBk QA — (12,156)
Loan to an associate m—XEE R RIREER (4,113) (6,877)
Decrease/(increase) in short-term RHRITERRLD
bank deposits (3n) 379 (379)
Interest received B A 15,041 9,463
Proceeds from redemption of BOZRAREEER
financial assets at fair value Hih 2 EK TR 2
through other comprehensive CREE MHELESR
income/available-for-sale financial BE TS HIE
assets 20 19 19
Net proceeds from disposal of HERHEESRMEE 2
available-for-sale financial assets SRIEFEE — 1,144
Net cash used in investing activities & &EFEFAA 2B L FE (19,800) (311)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING  HREBMEEE
ACTIVITIES HERE
Interest paid BRALE (13,383) (22,283)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B KIFIRTTF U 70,020 —
(Increase)/decrease in restricted SRFIES (M), H
cash (1,978) 10,050
Purchase of shares for share award &% {7 BT 218 B H
scheme — (4,269)
Proceeds from exercise of share and 1713 B8 IR #E Kz E fih HAseE
other options Fr18 518 224,734 —
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS RIE 29 830,567 192,456
Capital contribution from non- —RWE R AR 2
controlling interest of a subsidiary EE 33 528 —
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (215,804) (153,705)
Repayment of other loan BEAMER — (301)
Drawdown of bank loans REERITER 31,086 112,875
Drawdown of finance leases ROBERE 2,972 —
Repayment of capital element of BEREHEZER
finance leases E=i1%5) (14,120) (21,666)
Net cash generated from financing MEEHFAEZ
activities e FE 914,622 113,157
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv_\éfﬁﬁﬁléﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-T-\F+t-A=t+-ALFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hat FET FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRBSSEY 28N
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R 2) #E 613,314 (6,188)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHzRER
beginning of the year REEEY 65,228 68,144
Exchange differences EHERE (731) 3,272
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHRZEER
AT END OF THE YEAR REZEEY 24 677,811 65,228
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of
its principal place of business is Suite 3902, 39th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of aviation
and logistics services and the provision of online financial
market information. The Company is listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$’'000), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 22 March 2019.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), a collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated
financial statements comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= AN
=

Bt 5 ¥ R MY RE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for (i) certain
financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at
fair value and (ii) the assets held for sale which are
measured at fair value less cost to sell. The preparation
of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note
4.

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
following standards, amendments and interpretation for
the first time for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018:

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to

HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers and the related
amendments
Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property

HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-
Interpretation 22

Annual improvements
to HKFRSs 2014-
2016 cycle

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28

2 EEFHREBE@)

2.1

BB (F)

FAEUBRRERELKAEER
o MEORAABEIGNE TS
MEERBBRG)EIAEBERDL
ERAFTENFIELEEERI
RENEETAEVBRELA 2GS
MBEBRRFEERS THARE MG
g NTREEEEERERALAKES
FARERZBREFELHE - B RA
EHEZ HE K EEM 8 X
BREGEFHEAVBHREM S B
ERZHBRME4RE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHHERESE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 mBEEE)
Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs FaT ~ 16T RAGIEGTE B BHRE
(continued) R & (E)

RENEEME RS ENEIR R
BEMBREERFISRRM T
22) AEBCEERHEGHBEL
fEHE TR - EXAIINKEZH
HiETH R BERRBERNETE
TEEMTE  BRBTISHEN
NAKRBHELEBATE

THFFT RGBT ZEAEZRER
B ERARARBER -F—N
F-A—BRBRZETHMRAERK
WEIR PR -

The Group had to change its accounting policies and
make certain adjustments following the adoption of
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 (Note 2.2). Most of the other
amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected
to significantly affect the current or future periods.

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations have been issued, but are not effective
for the Group’s accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018 and have not been adopted early:

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on

HKFRS 16

BEM B wEERE 165
HKFRS 17

BBV ERELEAFE 75
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BRI WELERZE 355 2 1EF7]
Amendments to HKFRS 9

BB REERIE QS 2(E5]
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BEMBREENE10RRE
e R AER S 28 5 2 (5T
Amendments to HKAS 19
EBGETERE 195 2(185]
Amendments to HKAS 28

BB GHERIE 28 5% 2 EF]

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 cycle

BEEVBHRELN - —AFE
R FRBPZFESE

HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation 23
5 (BRI B s 2k
ZEE) % EE 235

Leases

HE

Insurance Contracts

RBRERE

Definitions of Business

¥ EE

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

BEARHEZENREFE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

REEMBABE NFHEE AR ZEH
BEHEIFEE

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

FTENSET - RS AR

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures

REE R REERFZ KER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS
12 and HKAS 23

BRI RELERZE 35 - BB RELER
F115% BB SHERFE 125G REEST
RIS 2357 2 &R]

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

PRIS B2 NHERE 1 2 Ba 38

Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

or after
RUTBEHRz%E
HBzEERBEN

1 January 2019
—T-hnF—HA—H
1 January 2021
—Z2-—%—HA—H
1 January 2020
—ZE_TF—A—H
1 January 2019

—ZT—-NF—HA—H
To be determined
FEE

1 January 2019
—E-NF—-A—H

1 January 2019

—T-hF—HA—H
1 January 2019

—T-h&F—A—H

1 January 2019
—E-hF—-HA—H



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in
almost all leases being recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position by lessees, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right
to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-
term and low-value leases.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly
on the way that lessors account for their rights and
obligations under a lease. However, once HKFRS 16
is adopted, lessees will no longer distinguish between
finance leases and operating leases. Instead, subject to
practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases
in a similar way to current finance lease accounting,
i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee
will recognise and measure a lease liability at the
present value of the minimum future lease payments
and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use”
asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability,
the lessee will recognise interest expense accrued on
the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
current policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a systematic basis over the
lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can
elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term
leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less)
and to leases of low-value assets, in which case the
rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as
a lessee of leases for properties, plant and equipment
which are currently classified as operating leases. The
application of the new accounting model is expected to
lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities and to
impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the
consolidated income statement over the period of the
lease.

2

TEEHBRBE )

2.1

RBLEE(F)
BEBYBHEEERFEI6%  HE

BRAUBREEANEI6HRR _-F
—RFE-RAEM BREERBE
HEZRDHANG  HEBERR
AN E R AEEARERS B BR
MRAMER - RIBZIAHMTER
EE(ERAMEERE ZERF) kM
HEzEBMEED TIAER - E—
pIoNERE SR KEEZHEE -

BHEEMBEREERE 165 T
SHHBAARSRNERBOH S
BEEREATE - A —B&K
MEAMB RS ERFE165 - &
BARITBR BEMERKLSH
MMz RIFEAETHE
BEE  BAEABEABRERS
MEBEESFEETERUNT R
HMEHEETEEE  RHE
AR B H - AR ASRRRKE
HEMNRENRERRLFTERE
BE REERVENMERE]IE
o inERZEERBER &
HAKERBRERBERNIRBERE
EMANBERREREEENE
M FRBEIRABRNERAR RS
HEEEARBKEAEMELNH
EBM -ERBERE DL AH
ATEETK ST RABANE
HEEEIEBS12EARNUT)
MMEBEEENHEE  RZFER
T HEEEAKEENERARR
IR o

BEMBHRELEANF 16T ERR
EXKBERENGERKEHE
WY - BERRBEEEAEAD
SRR - e RAMNER A
HEFEERBEEN YEEH
EREERRERTHEABRRE
il o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

As disclosed in Note 35(b), as at 31 December 2018,
the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases amount to HK$83,146,000
and HK$1,344,000 for land and buildings and office
equipment, respectively. Of these commitments,
HK$1,297,000 relate to short-term leases and
HK$1,344,000 to low value leases which will both be
recognised on a straight-line basis as expense in profit
or loss.

For the remaining lease commitments, the Group
expects to recognise right-of-use assets of
HK$57,500,000 on 1 January 2019 and lease liabilities
of HK$55,073,000 (after adjustments for prepayments
recognised as at 31 December 2018). Overall net assets
will be HK$2,427,000 higher, and net current assets will
be HK$11,233,000 lower due to the presentation of a
portion of the liability as a current liability.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends
to apply the simplified transition approach and will not
restate comparative amounts for the year prior to the
first adoption.

There are no other new, amended or revised standards
that are not yet effective that are expected to have any
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Changes in Accounting Policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” on the Group’s financial
statements.

Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

2

TEETHBRBE )

2.1

2.2

RBLEE(F)
BEBUBREEREI165  HE(E)

B0 MY GESS(L)FTIE - N ==
—NF+=ZA=+—8 ' ~FEEHR
BRI RECEHEN T RET
M AREARARKERERN RS 5
7%83,146,0007% 7T & 1,344,000%
JC °© ez EAEHEH + 1,297,000 47T
B HATHE SRR - 1,344,000 T
HEEERERH  MEARERE

REBRBERENS  AEEEH
R=ZT—hF—A—BBERERE
& E 57,500,000 T R & A &
55,073,000 L(E R —& — )\ F
+—A=+—BAE®RNENREA
) o BEIFEKIE 2,427,000
BT ARBBLEBERI AR
BEE WRBEEFEKRD
11,233,000/8 7T °

AEEBBEIERMBAH _FT—A
F-A-—BEERRAZEL - N&HE
REABCBETEZER TSR
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTBEBRESE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 22 EBHBEXZB8FH(E)
2.2(a) Impact on the financial statements 22 B BHREAZHE

As explained in Note 2.2(b) below, HKFRS 9 was
generally adopted without restating comparative
information. The reclassifications and the
adjustments arising from the new impairment
rules are therefore not reflected in the restated
consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2017, but are recognised in
the opening consolidated statement of financial
position on 1 January 2018.

The following tables show the adjustments
recognised for each individual line item. Line
items that were not affected by the changes have

TN X HzE2.2(b) Fraa k8 - %
MBI TSR EERF QR
s P EABMLERER - B
It B RFTRERRE
B2 ABRARBMA T —+F
+-A=+t—BZzREIGZE
MR ERF  ERZE—N
F— A — B2 B4R E MK
MFTPHER o

TRV S MEBEERZ
AR  IEZEHTEZIREKIE
B REHEER -

not been included.

31 December

2017 1 January
As originally 2018
presented HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 Restated
—E-tF
T=A EBEK EBHY —Z-N\%
Consolidated Statement of RERBRRE =+-A REER REER —A—H
Financial Position (extract) (F58%) RREZ5 L F15% KED
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AItHELBEE 42 (42) — —
Financial assets at fair value BAAEEEREMEE
through other comprehensive W5l (R AR E
income (“FVOCI’) EEBHMZERS
SRz e REE — 42 — 42
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HA B R B & R 65,969 — (11,042) 54,927
Contract liabilities RHERE — - 11,042 11,042
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHEREHMESE)
POLICIES (continued)

22 EBFBERZB8FH(E)
22b)F BB HEEREIN &

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2(b) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments

78

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
that relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge
accounting.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018
resulted in changes in accounting policies and
adjustments to the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The new
accounting policies are set out in Note 2.12.
In accordance with the transitional provisions
in HKFRS 9 (7.2.15) and (7.2.26), comparative
figures have not been restated. There is no
impact on the Group’s accumulated losses as at 1
January 2018 upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.

(i)  Classification and measurement

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial

IR

B 5 WA 2RI 5B 9 SRER X
BB EAFEIREBE
BREERCRBERR 28
NEtE - €T ABUSHER
CREERERE RS HE
I

E-ZT—N\F—A—BEBEHR
BB TR R F O SRE B
SHBENES R EREEHT
BHRERERNSE AL -
S BREHNME2.120 R
BREBFHRELERF GRS
(7.2.15) }(7.2.26) 1§ = i@ &
T HEBHBFIARET - £
ME BT RS ERISE R
MURNEFRN - N\F—B
—BrZEEREERE -

() DERiE
R-_Z—N\F—H—H

application of HKFRS 9), the Group's (iaFER BB GRS
management has assessed which business AERIEIFFT Z HE) » A&
models apply to the financial assets held SEERER T HASE
by the Group and has classified its financial B emEE 255

instruments into the appropriate HKFRS 9
categories.

There is no impact on the Group’s equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2(b) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued)

TEEHBRBE )

22 BIBRZBE(E)
22M)EBHBHEEREIS M

TAE)
(i)  Classification and measurement (i) PERIEGE)

(continued)

(a) Available-for-sale debt instruments (a) HDEBEAAIEE

classified as FVOCI BEEME K

SIARZ & B & EH)

A] (1] & & T A

Listed corporate bonds were PR EADH

reclassified from available-for-sale THEESRE

TG sERARAED

nEEEBE MBS

both by collecting contractual cash
flows and selling of these assets.
The contractual cash flows of these
investments are solely principal and
interest. As a result, listed corporate
bonds with a fair value of HK$38,000
were reclassified from available-for-
sale financial assets to FVOCI on
1 January 2018.

E R SIER 2 & B
BE  RARAE
Bz XBEATIE
BUERAE R TR
BERHERHRE
MER - BEAKRE
ZANRERER
RAERFE - B
 2AEBES
38,000/ 7T 2 k£
mEEEFERZ
T—N\FE—H—H
HA L ESRE
EEM D BRER
REEEBEME
[ER &2l S e
BE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2(b) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)  Classification and measurement
(continued)

(b)

Equity investments previously
classified as available-for-sale
financial assets

The Group elected to present in
Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”)
changes in the fair value of all its
equity investments previously classified
as available-for-sale financial assets,
because these investments are held as
long-term strategic investments that are
not expected to be sold in the short to
medium term. As a result, assets with a
fair value of HK$4,000 were reclassified
from available-for-sale financial assets
to FVOCI on 1 January 2018.

Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 2 RS &= E AR A 7

TEETHBRBE )

22 BIHBEZSB(E)

22)E B BHREEREIR M
TAE)

(i) ZPERIEE)

(b) RAEZIERAEL
ELBEEZRA
"L
NEBEERHAM
2HEWS([H2
milkE]) 25| R 5%
PEAHEES
BEEZRARE
ZAREBHEES
REAEBRBEE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHHEHSES)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 22 EBHBEXZB8FH(E)
2.2(b) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued) 22M)E B BHELAEIS L&
TAE)
(i)  Classification and measurement () ZPERIEE)
(continued)
On the date of initial application, 1 January Ry ERBAE - Bl
2018, the financial instruments of the Group Z—-N\FE—A—H" 'K
were as follows, with any reclassifications SEzeRTACGERME
noted: MEMzEFHE)N
T~
Measurement category Carrying amount
SRR FEE
Original New
(HKAS39)  (HKFRS 9) Original New
F% EH]
(Bogl (BAuBES
E0%39%) R Z9%) Rk EH]
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT

Non-current financial assets ~ FREEREE

Equity investments BAKE Available-for- FVOCl 4 4
sale
nHEE  BAREEER
Hthz s
31|
Listed corporate bonds LTtEES Available-for- FVOClI 38 38
sale
nHEE  BAREEER
HthzElE
31|
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

TEETHBRBE )

22 BIHBEZESB(E)

22)E B BHEERFEIF £H
TE(#E)

2.2(b) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued)

82

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets
that are subject to HKFRS 9’s new expected
credit loss model:

(i)

EHEEZBE

AEBBE-_RBUBEE
ABITEBUBEREE
AIFEORIE T 2 H A

EEEBEXZHRE
o trade receivables for sales of goods . HEEMRERR
and from the provisions of services; %28 5 E WK
and B &
. other financial assets at amortised . R HA AT R 2
cost HEMemEE

The Group was required to revise its
impairment methodology under HKFRS 9
for each of these classes of assets. There
was no impact of the change in impairment
methodology on the Group’s retained
earnings and equity.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

IR & 7B B %5 i S 2 A
Fo% - AEBEARM L
&SRR B EE T B
B30k BENEE
HAEE 2 REEN R
RESWEZE -

ReERRSEEBMITA
B 5T & R RS A
FORZBERE
2 Bl 2 A &5 18 I A
BX-

Trade receivables =&y 168
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified RNEEKAEE N B R

approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The Group applied different
expected loss rates to different classes
of trade receivables, according to their
respective risk characteristics.

Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable

EREUEL L) Kl ebsy
A EEBREERE
EN¥ PR B 5 e W ROR

REMEREERE -

FFEESEEEER
B 5 RKFIBTIIRAR
EERBREFHBKLAEA
BoE AEEREB
ZRBEE gt TEE
Rl 2 B 5 e W R IR FE
TREHEEL X

B 5 & W IR & Y [ml
Z A B TEHE T M
iz I = S R

expectation of recovery include, amongst ZHRBEEHFBE)
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a BEBAREEEANEHEZE

repayment plan with the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHEREHMESE)
POLICIES (continued)

22 EBIHBREZEH(E)
22()FENBHEEREIN TH

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2(b) HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued)

TE(#)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) THEEZHEE)
Trade receivables (continued) B ZENHTE (&)
The Group has assessed the expected AEBEFEEARS

credit loss model applied to the trade
receivables as at 1 January 2018 and
the change in impairment methodologies
has no significant impact of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and the
opening loss allowance is not restated in
this respect.

Z-—N\F-—HA—HZE
SREFREAZEREE
BEREN - BEDEZ
EHUANKEEES W
BRI BEERZE N
B UL B 5 HI A 1A
o

Other financial assets at amortised cost H it 55 5K AR S AR 2
Other financial assets at amortised cost H iz AT BR 2
include deposits and other receivables. CHMEERERERE

The Group has assessed that the expected
credit loss model apply to the deposits and
other receivables as at 1 January 2018 and

B E - A KB E
FEEAR=E— N\
—A-BzEE KA

the change in impairment methodologies EWHRIEZ BHEES
has no material impact of the Group's BEX RESTEZE
consolidated financial statements and the AR EEERE BB

opening loss allowance is not restated in
this respect.

2.2(c) HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 from
1 January 2018 which resulted in changes to
accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group elected to adopt HKFRS
15 without restating comparatives as it has
chosen the simplified transition method, to apply
HKFRS 15 retrospectively only to contracts that
are not completed at the date of initial application
(1 January 2018).

RUYBEARTE  TE
S EDIEATIE IR -

22(c) 5B BHEERF15%

KREEFEHZKA

rEEE-_T-N\F—A—H
EERATEMBREERE 15
5 BHEABREHRHER
FAEMBHRRERNEE ZH
Ko AEERERNBEMB
FEAFE155% - 1 AEF
hE#y  RAHEEGLE
BE - BERAER B
—Z-N\FE—-H—B)REK
ZAREPRABTENBRE
HRIFE 155 o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEETHBRBE )

22 BIBRzZ2E(E)
22(c)EEHBHEEREISH

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2(c) HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with

Customers (continued)

The reclassifications and the adjustments
arising from the new revenue recognition rules
are therefore not reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31
December 2017, but are recognised in the
opening consolidated statement of financial
position on 1 January 2018. In summary, the
following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of

REBEFEHZHKA(E)

it - BB R ARER
RAGHZABI RN -F
—tE+ZR=t+—HZEAE
BBIRRR P R R —F
—N\F—A—BZHNEEY
BRRKRDPHER - B2 R
MR- N\F—
A—R)z&EEHBHRRRA
RZBIELTIIHE

financial position at the date of initial application
(1 January 2018):

HKAS 18 HKFRS 15
carrying amount carrying amount
31 Dec 2017  Reclassification 1 January 2018

EEEER BRUBRE

F185; ERZE155

—E-tF —E-N\E

T=ZA=t-H —-A—-H

REE ENoE REE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

Consolidated Statement of REMERRR(BE)
Financial Position (extract):

Contract liabilities aHERE — 11,042 11,042

Other payables and accruals Hit AR ERENER 65,969 (11,042) 54,927
Presentation of assets and liabilities related to BHEEEAIZEERBES

contracts with customers 27

AEBEE B FRE A MR
MRPETEEZIEN - UK
BR &S I 15 S RIS 1557
REBMBHRELERNF WA

The Group has also voluntarily changed
the presentation of certain amounts in the
consolidated statement of financial position to
reflect the terminology of HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9:

Az
J Contract liabilities in relation to the receipts o EEXEE ST
in advance derived from online financial BRIk E A

market information contracts and aircraft
management contracts were previously
included in other payables and accruals.

HWZBEWRFBEZAEHE
& REHAE b e
FIRNEFTER -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B B 5 8RR Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has the rights to, variable
returns from its investment with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred. ldentifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the
Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’'s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. If the business combination is
achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are recognised
in profit or loss.

2

FESHEREHMESE)
2.3 #&=E
(a) HIBARE
M B~ R 5 2N 5 (B 7 75 122 il e
ZEE- MZIS%@%KX%;E
L2EEEMSZAIZMHR - B
BRENE zﬁﬁﬂ;ﬁgziﬁéﬁ

FEZEORE - AAKEE
%H.uaﬁL P 88 2 A A4 il 4
BREAKEZBEZEES
B IR BEELE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income
and expenses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Profits and losses
resulting from inter-company transactions that
are recognised in assets are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment losses (Note 2.10). Cost
includes direct attributable cost of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is as transactions
with the owners in their capacity as owners.
The difference between the fair value of any
consideration paid/received and the relevant
share of the carrying amount of net assets of the
subsidiary acquired/disposed of is recorded in
equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequent accounting for
the retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are recognised in profit or
loss.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
or the Company has significant influence, but
not control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting and are initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition. The Group’s investments
in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment
loss (Note 2.10). Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
as goodwill.

The carrying amount of the investments in
associates is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.10.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates (continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B B 5 8RR Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Consolidation (continued)
(c) Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying amount of goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs to sell.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker of the Group. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
the Company that makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the”’functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “finance costs”. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within “other
operating expenses”.

Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary
financial assets, such as equities classified
as available-for-sale, are included in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TESHBRBE®)

26 SPEERE)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(c) Group companies (c) EBEARA
The results and financial position of all the Group FrE e & a5 R T [F
entities (none of which has the currency of a ZEEERE(ERITERER
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional IRECER 2 %) 2 EEME
currency different from the presentation currency AR IR A0 T A E A7 BR
are translated into the presentation currency as B
follows:
(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of (i) FERZZFFBHBMRIER
financial position presented are translated Az B EMBERIB
at the closing rate at the financial position N = Qi T
date; i
(i) Income and expenses for each income (i) BUERAZBAKRFA
statement are translated at average SIRFHERBE (BRIE
exchange rate (unless this average is not a ULEERWIER 5 HHE
reasonable approximation of the cumulative TEXZZFFEZE
effect of the rates prevailing on the A EHBERT
transaction dates, in which case income and WEIBE®RRXZ A2
expenses are translated at the dates of the [EXBE) &
transactions); and
(iii) All resulting exchange differences are (i) PTEBRUEEZERZE
recognised in other comprehensive income. BH A H 2 E W s A B
R o
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the UL B SN E BE R T EE & 2 7
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets BN AR BEAENERZS
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated INEREZEERBERE W
at the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences WKW TERBRE - FTEELEZ
arising are recognised in other comprehensive B 5 22 BE PO H 2 T Ui 2 A
income. R o
(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial (d) HEBIEBRIBAHE

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the foreign exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal (continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does not
result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated foreign exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated foreign
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Property, Plant and Equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—AN
172 8 =

B %5 R 3Rk M A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, which
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, is provided at the following annual rates:

Over the remaining life
of the lease (45 years
commencing 2004)

Leasehold properties

Leasehold Over the shorter of the term
improvements of the lease (45 years
commencing 2004) and
the estimated useful life
Hangars 2.5%
Aircraft and aviation 5% to 10%
equipment
Plant, machinery and 10% to 38%
tooling
Trucks, trailers and 8% to 20%
containers

18% to 20%
12.5% to 33%
12.5% to 25%

Motor vehicles
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial
position date. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other income and other gains/(losses), net” in the
consolidated income statement.

TEEHBRBE )

I BBERRE(E)

RE GG A ERF A E R K
AN BEHRNKEBERAEZY
X BEEMREBIFERTIFE
AR

TEmE ZRBASFH(E
—ETMFRE
454F)
HEMHEEE REEFHE=Z
TF R 45F)
RAEaT el fE A H
(ARG EBE)
e 2.5%
TR K2 22 5% ZE 10%
B

2SR 10% £ 38%
;THE

EHE - BEEE 8% E20%
HAH

B 18% £ 20%

HNE L 12.5% & 33%

BN EE

FEEEPBAR AL EEZFIRE
EBERAERFHETR  REE
ERRHE - FEECHREESNE
BEtA R E SR - EREESAE
MoRZER Y@ 28 (KfFE2.10) ©

12.5% £ 25%

HEME HBERRBZABTL
S REERAEMEE @ AR
RARERNER R EMBRARE
il (B518) - F5 ] -

Annual Report 2018 &R

93



94

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Other Intangibles

Other intangibles with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangibles with
indefinite useful lives are not amortised.

Amortisation of other intangibles, which is calculated
using straight-line method to allocate their costs over
their estimated useful lives, is provided at the following
basis:

Over the estimated useful
lives of 9 — 15 years

Over the non-compete
periods of 4 — 6 years

Operating certificates
and trademark

Non-compete
agreements

Management reviews the expected useful live at each
financial position date based on the estimated period
over which future economic benefits will be received
by the Group and takes into account the level of future
competition, the risk of technological or functional
obsolescence of the assets, and the expected changes
in the market.

Other intangibles are derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of other intangibles are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised
with “other income and other gains/(losses), net” in the
consolidated income statement in the period when the
assets are derecognised.

Non-Current Prepayments

Prepayments for engine overhaul and maintenance costs
of aircraft are recorded as non-current prepayments as
it is not expected to be utilised within twelve months and
management has discretion over whether or not these
costs have to be incurred. Upon consumption, these
prepayments are charged to the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a5 B S 8RR Y R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

TEEHBRBE )

210 ¥EWMEEURRMBLARARBKE

2.10 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in

Subsidiaries and Associates

Non-financial assets which have an indefinite useful life
— for example, goodwill or intangible asset not ready to
use — are not subject to amortisation but are tested for
impairment annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. Non-financial assets which are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each financial position
date.

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

The Group determines at each financial position date
whether there is any objective evidence that the interest
in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying amount and recognises the
amount in the profit or loss.

DE ZEREBE

ERERAERAFHIFSHEE
— WRESATRERZEBEE —
TTHE EEEFINEENK
B0 & B BUR BRI E A e DR e =
FETTRER - BEBHZ ISR
BEEREHIBERBILBTREE
REE R EEEANEE - ERURE
ETRE - REBRREEZERE
ERHEAKEEE ZHER -
Al EEBEAEE AR BENIR
HERARFEREEME LRSS
REE - RFHERER - BERAE
VHHKREREZHEKF(REE
HEM)DMA - HIRREZIFERE
E(BEEBRINERSHHIR RN A E
1TIRAT - AREER BRI e ERIE -

BRINMBAR 2R ZRE
o NRR SR B B A R A B IKAR
EHRz2EKEARE  HEBYL
PHHRRZRERAEBBRRE
TEEFE(BRRBEER)EREMB
BRBREER  BANFHRKE
EITRERIF °

AEEESEAVBARARBEERS
EEBEBEERABE R ERER
B MESCRE AEEFER
(E - &V5) 3 WNCIRREE ¢
HERHEMNZR - WNMERHER -

Annual Report 2018 &R

95



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

TEETHBRBE )

211 FEHEXRRDEE

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent
increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset,
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Non-current
assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held for sale.

Financial Assets
(a) Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement
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&
. those to be measured at amortised cost. . REEKAFTENSRE
o

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(b)

(c)

Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments at amortised cost and FVOCI.

(i) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets
is included in “interest income” using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
“other income and other gains/(losses), net”
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Financial Assets (continued)
(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

(i)  Fair value through other comprehensive

income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “other income and other gains/(losses),
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in “interest income” using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
“other income and other gains/(losses), net”
and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated

net”.

income statement.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as “other income and other gains/
(losses), net” when the Group’s right to receive

payments is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in

fair value.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B B 5 8RR Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(d)

(e)

()

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial asset have
expired or have been legally transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the financial asset.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Notes 3.1(b) and 22 for further details.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively,
but has elected not to restate comparative
information. As a result, the comparative
information provided continues to be accounted
for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
and available-for-sale. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B S 8RR Y &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(f)  Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017 (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Recognition and measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss
are initially recognised at fair value, and
transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Available-
for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans
and receivables are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in
the fair value of the “financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss” category
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other income and other
gains/(losses), net” in the period in which
they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of “other income and other
gains/(losses), net” when the Group’s right
to receive payments 